Agreement

between the

Acton-Boxborough Regional School Committee

and the

Acton Boxborough Education Association

2023 - 2026

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>Preamble</u>	2
Article 1: Recognition and Representation	3
Article 2: Committee's Rights	3
Article 3: Effect of Agreement	4
Article 4: Salaries	4
Article 5: Leaves of Absence	8
Article 6: Teaching Hours and Teaching Load	16
<u>Article 7</u> : Class Size	22
Article 8: Non-Teaching Duties	22
Article 9: Teacher Employment and Assignment	23
Article 10: Transfers	24
Article 11: Vacancies	25
Article 12: Summer School	26
Article 13: Teacher Evaluation	26
Article 14: Teacher Facilities	27
Article 15: Use of School Facilities	28
Article 16: Substitute Teachers	28
Article 17: Reimbursement	30
Article 18: Research and Development Program	31
Article 19: Protection	33
Article 20: Insurance and Annuity Plans	33
Article 21: Textbooks	34
Article 22: Dues Deduction	34
Article 23: Personal Injury and Property Loss	35
Article 24: General	36
Article 25: Staff Children Tuition	36
Article 26: No Discrimination	37
Article 27: Precedence of Laws and Regulations	37
Article 28: Duration	38
Article 29: Reduction in Staff	38
Article 30: Paraprofessionals	40
Article 31: Administrative Selection Committees	40
Article 32: Grievance Procedure	40
Article 33: Arbitration	43
Article 34: Continuity of Operations	43

Schedule A Salaries	45
Schedule B Salaries	46
Schedule C Salaries	52
Schedule D Salaries	53
Schedule E Salaries	54
Appendix A: Appointment Letter, Salary Sheet	55
Appendix B: Contract for Extra Duties	57
<u>Appendix C</u> : Educator Evaluation Contract Language	58
Side Letter of Agreement: Senior High Duties	71
Side Letter of Agreement: Junior High Duties	72
Paid Chaperoning Guidelines	73
Witness Page	74

PREAMBLE

This AGREEMENT is made this 2nd Day of March 2023, by and between the ACTON-BOXBOROUGH REGIONAL SCHOOL COMMITTEE and the ACTON BOXBOROUGH EDUCATION ASSOCIATION.

In consummating this Agreement, it has been the purpose of the parties to continue their harmonious relationships, to promote mutual cooperation and understanding, to formulate rules, to define and resolve the proper interest of the teachers in their rights of compensation, hours, and conditions under which they perform their duties, all with a goal of providing education of the highest possible quality for the children attending the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District.

The parties acknowledge that:

- a. The Committee, elected by the citizens of the towns of Acton and Boxborough, has complete authority over, and responsibility for, policies and administration of the schools which they exercise under law.
- b. The Superintendent of Schools of the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District is responsible to the Committee for carrying out the policies established by the Committee and for the administration of the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District.
- c. The teaching staff of the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District, the Superintendent, and the Committee are responsible for providing education of the highest possible quality.

ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION AND REPRESENTATION

The Association is recognized by the Committee (pursuant to Chapter 150E of the Massachusetts General Laws) as the exclusive representative for the purpose of collective bargaining with respect to wages, hours, and other conditions of employment for all professional employees employed by the District including classroom teachers, special educators, specialized teaching personnel, instructional and digital literacy coaches, PreK-6 curriculum coordinators, school counselors, psychologists, occupational, physical, and speech and language therapists, librarians, nurses, Board Certified Behavior Analysts (BCBAs), high school department leaders, department chairs, and nurse leaders, but excluding the Superintendent, assistant superintendents, Principals, assistant principals, associate principals, deans, the director and assistant director of special education, special education team leaders, administrative assistants and other administrative personnel, per diem substitute teachers, and all other employees. The terms "teacher" and "teachers" as used hereafter in this Agreement refer only to such persons as at the time in question fall within the bargaining unit as defined in this Article.

1.2 <u>Definitions</u>

- "Days" shall mean only days on which teachers are required to report, and, in addition, days other than weekends or legal holidays during the summer vacation period.
- "District" means the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District.
- "Committee" means the Acton-Boxborough Regional School Committee.
- "Association" means the Acton Boxborough Education Association (ABEA).
- "Superintendent" means the Superintendent of the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District, or their designee.
- "Principal" means the building Principal where a teacher primarily works, or another administrator supervising a teacher in the same capacity, or a Principal's designee.

ARTICLE 2 COMMITTEE'S RIGHTS

Except to the extent that there is contained in this Agreement an express and specific provision to the contrary, all the authority, power, rights, jurisdiction, responsibilities and duties of the Committee under the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts or the lawful bylaws of the District or of any of the member towns of the Agreement for a regional school district for the towns of Acton and Boxborough, in effect as of July 1, 2023, as from time to time amended, are retained by and reserved exclusively to such Committee.

ARTICLE 3 EFFECT OF AGREEMENT

- 3.1 This instrument constitutes the entire Agreement that the Committee and the Association arrived at as the result of collective bargaining negotiations, except such amendments as shall be agreed to in writing and signed by the parties.
- 3.2 The parties acknowledge that during the negotiations which resulted in this Agreement each has had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands with respect to any subject or matter not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining, and that the understandings and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement. Therefore, the Committee and the Association for the life of this Agreement, each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the right, and each agrees that the other shall not be obligated to bargain collectively with respect to any subject or matter referred to or covered by this Agreement, or with respect to any subject or matter not specifically referred to or covered in this Agreement, even though such subjects or matters may not have been in the knowledge or contemplation of either or both the parties at the time this Agreement was signed.
- 3.3 The waiver of any breach or condition of this Agreement by either party shall not constitute a precedent with respect to future enforcement of all the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
- 3.4 No provision of this Agreement shall be retroactive prior to the effective date.
- 3.5 Should any provisions of this Agreement be or become invalid because of any existing or future provisions of law, court decision or administrative ruling, the remainder of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect for the duration of the Agreement.

ARTICLE 4 SALARIES

- 4.1 A full-time teacher's base annual salary during the term of the Agreement shall be determined as set forth in Schedule A of this Agreement. Part-time teachers will be paid at the relevant proportion of the full-time rate including supermax steps, longevity payments, and administrative stipends.
- 4.2 <u>Department Leaders, Chairs, and Coordinators</u>
 - a. High School Department Leader
 A high school department leader works closely with the high school administrative team, assisting in hiring processes, serving on committees, attending regular standing meetings and additional meetings as required, performing teacher evaluation, planning professional learning, and making general recommendations to the Principal. A

departmental leader responds to questions and concerns from caregivers and the wider community, often serving as a liaison between students, caregivers, and the high school. A department leader helps to develop curriculum and plan professional learning opportunities consistent with high school, department, and/or K-12 goals and objectives and the needs of the community. As needed, a high school department leader collaborates with K-8 and District curriculum staff within their discipline, and facilitates the process of transitioning students from 8th grade to 9th grade. A high school department leader teaches a reduced schedule of two (2) sections (0.4 FTE) to allow time for department leader responsibilities, and will receive a stipend above their Schedule A salary. Stipends are listed in Schedule C.

b. Junior High Department Coordinator

A junior high department coordinator assists in hiring, develops curriculum consistent with K-12 goals and objectives, and represents the department on the junior high leadership team. A junior high department coordinator will collaborate with the appropriate high school department leader about 7-12 curriculum and will meet with them as needed throughout the year. A junior high department coordinator will receive a stipend above their Schedule A salary. Stipends are listed in Schedule C.

c. Department Chairs

The speech and language chair, the OT/PT chair, nurse leaders, the library chair, the elementary counseling chair, and any other department chairs within the bargaining unit will have roles and responsibilities defined through their supervisor. Department chairs will receive a stipend above their Schedule A salary. Stipends are listed in Schedule C.

d. PreK-6 Curriculum Coordinators

A PreK-6 curriculum coordinator develops, leads, and supports curriculum implementation consistent with District goals and objectives, designs and facilitates professional learning, assists in hiring coaches and specialists, meets regularly with elementary administration, and represents their respective discipline in the Teaching and Learning department. PreK-6 curriculum coordinators will collaborate with the junior high department coordinators and high school department leaders about PreK-12 curriculum. PreK-6 curriculum coordinators will receive a stipend above their Schedule A salary. Stipends are listed in Schedule C.

e. Evaluation

High school department leaders and all other department chairs will be evaluated as teachers according to the District's evaluation system consistent with their applicable teaching FTE. High school department leaders and all other department chairs will be evaluated as District leaders consistent with their applicable leadership FTE by their supervisor on a yearly basis in narrative form. High school department leaders and other department chairs will be notified by March 1 if their supervisor does not intend to reappoint them in their leadership position for the following school year. If a high school department leader or other department chair is not reappointed to their leadership position, or wishes to resign from their leadership position, they are entitled to return to

a 1.0 FTE teaching position within their department, unless they are being dismissed from their position for just cause or being dismissed from their teaching FTE through the District's evaluation system. High school department leaders and all other department chairs are entitled to representation from the Association in any disciplinary meetings, regardless of whether the meeting concerns their role as a teacher or as a District leader.

4.3 A teacher designated and serving in an extracurricular position listed in Schedule B of this Agreement shall receive in addition to their base salary the amount set forth in Schedule B.

4.4 Supermax and Longevity Increments

- a. After a teacher has received the maximum base annual salary for their level of formal educational attainment, they shall have their base annual salary increased in accordance with the supermax schedule as provided in Schedule A. The amount under supermax is added as part of the regular salary in the year following Step 12. Supermax amounts during the life of this contract are additions to whatever supermax amounts had been received in prior years.
- b. In recognition of service as a teacher in the Acton, Boxborough, and/or Acton-Boxborough Regional School Districts, including authorized paid leaves of absence, teachers shall receive yearly longevity increments, which shall be payable in equal installments on the District's regular pay days during the applicable year of service, as follows:

Year of Service*	% of Bachelor Step 10
10 - 14	2%
15 – 24	3%
25 or more	4%

*By way of example, a teacher who has completed nine (9) years of service with the Acton, Boxborough, and/or Acton-Boxborough Regional School Districts would, on each regular pay day of the subsequent school year, receive equal installment payments totaling for the entire school year 2% of the Bachelor's Step 10 rate. A teacher who has completed fourteen (14) years of service with the Acton, Boxborough, and/or Acton-Boxborough Regional School Districts would, on each regular pay day of the subsequent school year, receive equal installment payments totaling for the entire school year 3% of the Bachelor's Step 10 rate.

Longevity increments shall be awarded for total years of service and not contiguous years of service. However, if a teacher leaves the District and is later rehired, any prior years of service to the District will be credited towards longevity only after such teacher is granted Professional Teacher Status.

4.5 Base annual salaries as provided in this Agreement shall be paid in twenty-six (26) or twenty-one (21) installments during the period September 1 through the last regular pay day in June of such school year for teachers.

- 4.6 There shall be deducted from a teacher's pay for each day on which they are absent other than on leave with pay, an amount equal to 1/183 of their base annual salary and additions thereto as provided in this Agreement.
- 4.7 Acceptance of degrees and course credits for Schedule A lane advancement, including credits for in-service courses, shall be subject to the approval of the Superintendent. Said approval shall be sought in advance by teachers whenever possible. All degrees and credits shall be graduate level, taken directly from an accredited college or university or from a District in-service program. For the purposes of this section, "accredited" shall normally be defined as an institution accredited by a regional agency approved by the Council on Higher Education Accreditation (CHEA); this definition may be expanded at the discretion of the Superintendent. Credits from third party vendors (e.g. Learner's Edge, Professional Development Institute) that are not part of a degree program or not approved by the District may be used for PDPs, but will not be accepted as credits on Schedule A. Teachers may not exceed 18 credits in any fiscal year. Credits taken in excess of 18 credits in a single fiscal year may not be carried over into the next year.

Course reimbursement is discussed in this Agreement in Section 17.1.

- 4.8 A minimum of three (3) courses per year shall be offered by the District, at no cost to teachers, and broadly applicable to all teachers, that will provide the ability to gain course credits on Schedule A.
- 4.9 Effective July 1, 2014, the bachelor's lanes will end at Step 12. Teachers hired on or after July 1, 2014 will not be eligible for supermax if they remain on the bachelor's lanes up to Step 12 until that teacher has earned a master's degree. After five years on the bachelor's degree lane, to be eligible to move further on the bachelor's degree lanes, a teacher not meeting the master's degree requirement must maintain a valid teaching license. Nurses are excluded from this requirement until such time as the Commonwealth of Massachusetts requires nurses to obtain a master's degree as a prerequisite for licensed school nurses.
- 4.10 A teacher who attains sufficient graduate credits or an advanced degree during the school year to make them eligible to advance to the next lane on Schedule A or to the next higher degree lane, as the case may be, may so advance as of either September 1 or March 1 following such attainment, whichever is the earlier date. A teacher who has received an advanced degree prior to September 1 will be eligible to advance as of September 1 if the documentation evidencing completion of the advanced degree is received by the Superintendent not later than the following October 1.

District in-service credits will be applied to any advancement on Schedule A as of July 1 following such attainment.

4.11 Salary increases are granted annually at the discretion of and by vote of the Committee to teachers who continue to exhibit a high standard of teaching and who receive recommendation

therefore from their Principal and the Superintendent. It is mutually agreed that neither increments nor adjustments are to be automatic, and may be withheld for just cause, with just cause meaning "unsatisfactory performance" for the purposes of this section.

4.12 <u>Anniversary Dates</u>

- a. A teacher commencing their employment after the beginning of the school year who has been employed for a minimum of ninety-one (91) school days in that school year shall be eligible for advancement to the next step in the salary scale as of September 1 of the following school year. A teacher who has been employed for less than ninety-one (91) school days shall not be eligible for advancement to the next step in the following school year. For the purposes of this section, school days shall include no more than 6 days of sick leave, paid bereavement leave, paid personal leave and paid religious leave, canceled school days which the teacher otherwise would have worked, and school days of teaching during such school year outside of the Committee's jurisdiction for which credit is granted in accordance with Section 9.1.
- b. A certified substitute teacher who receives a regular teacher's contract after the beginning of the school year in accordance with Section 16.1 of this Agreement, and is re-employed as a regular teacher in the following school year, shall be eligible for advancement to the next step in the salary scale as of September 1 of such following school year, provided such teacher has been employed for ninety-one (91) school days in the preceding school year for any purposes as a regular teacher.
- 4.13 A teacher who is hired by the District to serve as a tutor outside of their normal work day, and who serves in such capacity, shall receive \$50 per hour for such tutoring services. If a teacher applies for and is selected to cover an after school writing or math center one (1) day a week for the full school year, they will be paid a stipend of \$1,800.

ARTICLE 5 LEAVES OF ABSENCE

5.1 Sick Leave

- a. Each teacher shall be entitled to twelve (12) days of sick leave without loss of pay per school year. Unused sick leave shall be accumulated from year to year. In the event that the employment of a teacher who has exhausted their accumulated sick leave is terminated during a school year and they have used annual sick leave granted at the commencement of such school year in an amount which exceeds that proportionate part of twelve (12) days which the number of months of employment completed by said teacher during such school year bears to ten (10), then the teacher must pay back such excess to the Committee and the amount thereof may be deducted from any moneys due such teacher.
- b. Sick leave shall be granted and taken only when a teacher is prevented from working

because of actual personal illness, including pregnancy or pregnancy related illness, or injury, or because of serious illness of or injury to a member of the teacher's immediate family, or other relatives of the teacher living in such teacher's immediate household requiring the personal attention of such teacher. "Immediate family" for the purposes of this Article shall be as defined in Section 5.3 below. Where individual circumstances require, the Superintendent may, at their discretion, expand the definition of immediate family; however, their determination shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures of this Agreement. To be eligible for sick leave, a teacher must report the illness or injury to their Principal at least one (1) hour prior to such teacher's scheduled reporting time on the first day of absence, except that a teacher requesting sick pay for the birth of a child shall provide notice at least forty (40) days prior to the predicted birth date unless waived by their Principal. If the absence continues in excess of three (3) days or other unusual circumstances exist, the teacher shall furnish upon request evidence satisfactory to the Superintendent that said teacher was prevented from working by the illness or injury. When submitted to the District, sick days will be identified as "Employee Sick" or "Family Sick."

c. Effective July 1, 2021, a teacher who has been employed by the Acton, Boxborough, and/or Acton-Boxborough Regional School Districts for a minimum of fifteen (15) years, and who gives written notice by December 15 of an irrevocable intent to retire at the end of that school year, shall receive a lump sum of \$15 for each unused sick day. The lump sum will be received by the teacher by July 31 of the year of their retirement. Said teacher must retire from the state retirement system the year in which they leave the District in order to qualify for the lump sum.

5.2 Extended Paid Sick Leave

- a. Each teacher who has taught for the District for at least one (1) full school year shall have an extended paid sick leave account which may be utilized if the teacher is prevented from working because of personal illness or injury. In order to be eligible to use extended paid sick leave during a period of absence due to personal illness or injury, a teacher must meet the following conditions:
 - i. All of the teacher's accumulated sick leave must have been exhausted; and
 - ii. The teacher must furnish to the Superintendent a physician's letter attesting that the illness or injury disables the teacher from working and is expected to continue for at least twenty (20) work days. Thereafter, the teacher may be required to furnish further medical documentation. The Superintendent reserves the right to have a physician of their choosing examine the teacher.
- b. The maximum number of days extended paid sick leave in a teacher's account shall be based upon the number of full school years such teacher has served for the District, as follows:

Number of full school years	Maximum number of days of
of service in the District	extended paid sick leave
At least 1 year but fewer than 5 years	45 days
At least 5 years but fewer than 10 years	90 days
At least 10 years but fewer than 15 years	120 days
At least 15 years but fewer than 20 years	150 days
20 years or more	180 days

- c. A teacher who has used days of extended paid sick leave and who, because of the completion of additional full school years of service for the District, qualifies for an increase in the maximum number of days of extended paid sick leave, shall have deducted from the new maximum the number of days of extended paid sick leave previously used and charged to their account.
- d. Each time a teacher uses days of extended paid sick leave, such days shall be deducted from the applicable maximum number of days; any teacher who has used extended paid sick leave shall have the applicable maximum number of days restored to their account after such teacher completes a period of five (5) full school years of employment during which such teacher did not use any days of extended paid sick leave.
- e. At the beginning of each school year, a maximum number of days equal to the aggregate number of FTE covered by this Agreement multiplied by 4.0 shall be available for use as extended paid sick leave.
- f. A teacher whose personal illness or injury extends beyond the period of paid sick leave or other compensation will be granted a leave of absence without pay or increment for the remainder of that school year. Such leave may be extended by the Superintendent for one (1) additional school year. Before returning to work, the teacher must furnish the Superintendent with a physician's letter attesting that the teacher's condition will permit the teacher to undertake their assignment(s).

5.3 Bereavement Leave

A teacher shall be entitled to up to three (3) consecutive days of leave without loss of pay for time necessarily and actually lost by reason of a death in the immediate household or immediate family of such teacher, or the death of another close significant person to the teacher. Notification of the need for such leave shall be made to their Principal. The members of the "immediate family" shall be the teacher's spouse and the parents, children, siblings, grandparents, or grandchildren of the teacher or their spouse. Where individual circumstances require, the Superintendent may, in their discretion, expand the definition of immediate family; however, their determination shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures of this Agreement. Additional consecutive days may be granted upon request with approval of the Superintendent for the following reasons: travel, distance and time, legal matters, religious reasons, delayed funeral, or for any other unforeseen circumstances. However, the determination of the Superintendent concerning such additional days shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures of this Agreement.

5.4 Personal Leave

- a. A teacher will be granted leave without loss of pay up to three (3) days per year for the time necessary and actually lost for important personal reasons if such activity cannot be carried out at any other time. Personal days may not be used for recreation or to extend a vacation or long weekend. If a teacher requests a personal day connected to a vacation, holiday, or long weekend, or more than one (1) personal day in a row, the purpose of the personal day must be provided to their Principal. Requests for personal days must be submitted as far in advance as possible. Approval of personal days shall be within discretion of the Principal and the Superintendent.
- b. Personal days during the first five days of school and the last three days of school will only be granted for extenuating circumstances. Personal days on Mondays or Fridays in May and June may be limited based on the volume of teachers absent in each school. Teachers will specify the reason for personal day requests on these days at the time of the request. Unused personal days will be rolled into sick days available for future use.

5.5 <u>Religious Leave</u>

A teacher will be granted leave without loss of pay up to two (2) days in any one school year for time necessarily and actually lost for observance of a recognized major religious holiday of the religious faith to which such teacher belongs, when such holiday falls on a day on which teachers are required to report. Notification by a teacher of their intention to take such leave shall be made to their Principal as far as possible in advance of such holiday, but in no event less than forty-eight (48) hours in advance of such holiday. Whether any days are "recognized major religious holidays" shall be determined by the Superintendent at the request of the Association or at the request of a teacher.

5.6 Exchange Leave

An unpaid leave of absence of up to two (2) years shall be granted to a teacher who engages in an exchange teacher program approved by the Superintendent. Credit on the salary schedule for such work shall be subject to the terms of Article 4 of this Agreement.

5.7 <u>Association Leadership Leave</u>

In recognition of the significant time during and after school required of Association leaders, the ABEA President is eligible to take up to three (3) additional professional days every year. Additionally, each member of the Professional Rights and Responsibilities (PR&R) Committee is eligible to take up to two (2) additional professional days every year. These additional professional days shall be funded by the Association, shall be subject to the same restrictions as regular personal days, and will not roll over into sick days.

5.8 Military Leave

- a. Military leave for up to four (4) years without pay as required by state or federal law shall be granted for military service. Reinstatement shall be subject to state and federal law and the terms of Article 4 of this Agreement.
- b. Leaves of absence with pay of up to a maximum of ten (10) days per school year may be granted by the Superintendent, approval for which shall not be unreasonably withheld, to persons called into temporary active duty of any unit of the U.S. Reserves or the State National Guard, provided such obligations cannot be fulfilled on days when school is not in session. Teachers will be paid the differences between their regular pay and the pay which they receive from the state or federal government.

5.9 <u>Family and Medical Leave</u>

a. Parental Leave

Employees who have worked for the District for at least three (3) months may take up to twelve (12) weeks of unpaid leave for the purpose of bonding with a child during the first twelve months after the birth or placement through adoption of a child under the age of 18, or under the age of 23 if the child is physically or mentally disabled pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Family Medical Leave Act or the Massachusetts Parental Leave Act, under the terms and conditions of Chapter 149, Section 105D of the Massachusetts General Laws. A portion of the twelve (12) week leave may be paid using the employee's accumulated sick and personal leave subject to the following limits:

- i. A birth or adoptive parent may use up to eight (8) weeks of accumulated sick and personal leave from the day that the child is born or placed in the home.
- ii. A non-birth parent may use up to four (4) weeks of accumulated sick and personal leave within twelve (12) weeks from the day a child is born. Effective July 1, 2024, a non-birth parent may use up to six (6) weeks of accumulated sick and personal leave. Effective July 1, 2025, a non-birth parent may use up to eight (8) weeks of accumulated sick and personal leave.
- iii. The District will grant teachers two (2) additional days of personal leave to be applied towards the paid portion of their parental leave.
- iv. An employee who runs out of accumulated sick and personal leave will move into unpaid status.
- v. If the employee qualifies for the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA), a birth, adoptive, or non-birth parent may extend the leave outlined above as unpaid leave for up to twelve (12) school weeks (which would include the period of leave under the Parental Leave Act). If an employee takes leave under this section in circumstances where FMLA leave could also be taken, the two leaves shall run concurrently, rather than one after the other. If the employee qualifies for health insurance, the health insurance shall be maintained at the employee rate during the twelve week leave.

vi. Employees in unpaid leaves of absence that continue beyond the approved FMLA leaves may continue group insurance coverage as provided by the Committee to members of the bargaining unit by paying the full premium cost.

b. FMLA Leave

- All eligible members of the bargaining unit shall, in addition to the provisions of this Article, be eligible for leaves of absence in accordance with the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993. FMLA currently includes leaves for:
 - 1. The birth of a child and in order to care for the newborn.
 - 2. The adoption or placement of a child for foster care with the employee.
 - 3. To care for a child, spouse, or parent with a serious health condition.
 - 4. Because of the employee's own serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform the essential functions of their position.
- ii. All full-time bargaining unit members shall presumptively be considered to have met the 1250 hour eligibility threshold on an annual basis. In the case of a part-time employee, the District shall bear the burden to establish the employee did not meet the 1250 hour eligibility threshold. Family leave shall be extended to include the care of any member of the teacher's household.
- iii. For leave related to the birth or placement of a child, the employee must provide at least two (2) weeks written notice before their anticipated date of departure and include an intended date of return. Eligibility for this benefit shall be extended to any birth or adoptive parent or to the partner of a birth or adoptive parent.
- iv. Nothing in this section shall be interpreted to limit an employee's right to utilize sick leave benefits as provided elsewhere in this Agreement or to require an employee to use sick leave or personal leave during any leave period.

c. Child Rearing Leave

- i. In the case of the birth or adoption of a child, once the teacher has used the twelve (12) weeks of FMLA leave, they may take the remainder of the year off unpaid as child rearing leave. The teacher may also take the next full school year off as a child rearing leave of absence without pay. Requests for child rearing leave must be provided to the Superintendent at least forty (40) days prior to the predicted birth or adoption, when feasible. Eligibility for child rearing leave shall be extended to any birth or adoptive parent or to the partner of a birth or adoptive parent.
- ii. In the event a teacher wishes to elect to commence a child rearing leave at a fixed date earlier than the anticipated birth or adoption, such a leave may only begin at the end of a marking period, upon thirty (30) days written notice to the Superintendent. The intent of the minimum notice provisions is to afford a reasonable notice period such that the Superintendent may make adequate provisions for the continuity of education in the classroom. Nothing herein shall affect a teacher's entitlement to sick pay during any period of actual disability.

- iii. In determining the placement on the salary schedule of a teacher who returns from a child rearing leave of absence, credit for a full year of teaching will be given on the schedule for the school year during which the leave began if the teacher completed at least ninety-one (91) days of teaching during said school year; otherwise, the teacher shall return to the step on the salary schedule which they held prior to the commencement of such leave. The teacher shall be restored as soon as practicable to the position they held when their leave began, or to a substantially equivalent position.
- iv. Nothing in this section shall be interpreted to limit an employee's right to utilize sick leave benefits as provided elsewhere in this Agreement or to require an employee to use sick leave or personal leave during any leave period.
- v. A teacher who has completed a child rearing leave or a discretionary leave shall not be eligible to commence a child rearing leave until the teacher has completed at least one (1) full school year of active employment as a teacher following the earlier leave. Should a birth or adoption occur during the year in which the teacher returns from a prior child rearing or discretionary leave, that teacher can use the twelve (12) weeks of FMLA available to them, as well as an unpaid child rearing leave for the remainder of that current school year, if requested. That teacher would not be eligible to extend that child rearing leave into the subsequent school year.
- d. A teacher who chooses an extended leave of absence for the purpose of child rearing in accordance with this section shall return to active employment only on the first day of school in September of the following year or on the first day of school in September of the second year following the birth or adoption. If the teacher wishes to return at a time other than those specified in this section, they may do so only if a vacancy occurs for which they are qualified to fill.
- e. Adoptive parents shall be entitled to utilize up to ten (10) days of paid leave for adoption related travel, court appearances, appointments with social workers or adoption agencies or attendance at other meetings or processes required in connection with the adoption of a child. Adoptive parents shall provide two (2) weeks notice of the intent to utilize paid leave under this section where practicable. Said leave shall be extended to the partner of an adoptive parent.
- 5.10 Leave of absence without pay or increment may be granted by the Superintendent for the purpose of caring for a sick member of the teacher's immediate family.
- 5.11 Leave of absence without pay or increment to any teacher to campaign for, or serve in a public office for one (1) term, may be granted by the Superintendent.
- 5.12 Other leaves of absence may be granted by the Superintendent. Requests for a leave of absence should be provided by February 1 of the school year before the intended leave when feasible.

- 5.13 Upon termination of a leave, a teacher will be restored as soon as possible to the position which such teacher left, or a substantially equivalent position, with such benefits to which the teacher was entitled at the time such leave commenced, provided that said teacher would not have been laid off due to a reduction in enrollment or budgetary factors had the teacher not been on leave, subject, however, to the requirements of the particular benefit plan or program involved. A teacher must inform the Superintendent on or before February 1 whether they wish to extend a leave. A teacher who does not inform the Superintendent shall be considered to be returning, and no extension of leave will be approved. Failure to be available for assignment at the termination of leave shall constitute a resignation.
- 5.14 Each request for leave or extension or renewal of leave shall be applied for and granted in writing.
- 5.15 Granting of discretionary leave shall not be unreasonably withheld. In deciding whether or not to grant a request for a discretionary leave, the Superintendent will weigh the implications for the education of the students, the importance of the leave to the teacher, and the adverse effect, if any, upon the school system and other relevant considerations.
- 5.16 Leaves of absence with pay each school year, not to be deducted from a teacher's sick time or personal time, may be granted by the Superintendent and not unreasonably withheld, for the following leaves:
 - a. At least one (1) day for the purpose of visiting other schools or attending meetings or conferences of an educational nature.
 - b. Time necessary for Association members to attend Massachusetts Teachers Association and/or National Education Association conferences and/or conventions.
 - c. Time necessary for appearance in any legal proceeding connected with the teacher's employment or with the school system or in any other legal proceeding if the teacher is required by law to attend.
 - d. Reasonable time necessary for any other legal proceeding the teacher is required by law to attend, provided that the teacher is a disinterested witness in which neither the teacher, nor the Association, nor any member of the teacher's family is a party or has any interest in the outcome.
- 5.17 No teacher will be required to arrange for their own substitute.
- 5.18 Teachers, upon application to the Superintendent, may be granted a leave for one (1) year without pay for the purpose of pursuing an alternative career.
- 5.19 In determining placement on the salary schedule for a teacher who returns from leave, the standard set out in Section 4.12a shall apply.

5.20 Teachers who are required to perform jury duty shall receive leave with pay for the duration of such duty. Compensation shall be the difference between jury duty pay and the teacher's regular pay, including all or any part of the compensation for stipended positions held at the time of such jury duty.

ARTICLE 6 TEACHING HOURS AND TEACHING LOAD

6.1 The Committee and the Association agree that the teachers of the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District shall devote the time which in their professional judgment is necessary to assure quality education for the students of each school system. The Association further agrees that it will actively encourage the sage use of professional judgment and will enforce this section through its PR&R Committee. Obligations for part-time teachers and teachers who work part-time in more than one building will be appropriately pro-rated. Those who travel between buildings will normally not have travel time counted as prep time.

6.2 Calendar

The work year of teachers shall be one-hundred and eighty-three (183) days or three (3) days longer than the minimum school year required by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, whichever is greater. The school year for teachers shall begin not earlier than August 25th. School will not be in session for one (1) week in February, which contains Presidents Day, nor one (1) week in April, which contains Patriots Day, except for emergencies due to building schedules. In the event that school begins prior to Labor Day, schools will be closed on the Friday preceding Labor Day. In years in which the calendar dictates that school will begin before Labor Day, and the two District professional learning days are scheduled for the Monday and Tuesday before Labor Day, school may be held the Friday before Labor Day.

The school year shall include all days on which students are in attendance in accordance with the rules and regulations of the state, orientation day(s), and professional learning day(s). When a teacher has completed their responsibilities at the end of a school year and they have "checked out" with their Principal, such teacher needs not delay departure until other teachers have checked out.

At the discretion of the Committee, one (1) additional day or two (2) evening conference nights may be added to the school year. If added, teachers will be compensated at a rate equivalent to 1/183 of Master's Step 1. The decision will be made when the Committee determines the next year's school calendar. If an additional day is scheduled, it will be of equal length to a normal school day. If two (2) nights are scheduled, no night session will be longer than three-and-one-half (3.5) hours in length and will end no later than 9:00 pm.

6.3 <u>Length of Work Day</u>

The workday of teachers will begin at the most thirty (30) minutes before the starting time of the schools. Teachers may leave school at student dismissal time once students have been dismissed from their classrooms unless detained by such commitments as staff meetings, bus duty, or extra help. At the elementary level, before and after school duties will be assigned equitably amongst teachers in each building. The starting and dismissal times of each school are subject to modifications by the Committee, provided, however, that no such modification will increase the length of the workday. Teachers whose classes are not scheduled the full school year (such as classes with seniors) may be assigned to cover other classes during those weeks.

6.4 <u>Preparation Periods</u>

Teachers will have a preparation period during which they will not be assigned to any other duties as follows:

- a. Senior high school: one (1) classroom period per day.
- b. Junior high school: one (1) classroom period per day.
- c. Elementary school: one (1) forty-five (45) minute prep period per day. If 45 minutes each day cannot be scheduled, 45 minutes of early release day afternoons shall be reserved for teacher prep time to ensure the equivalent of a daily prep period. Up to ten (10) prep periods per year may be utilized for grade-level data meetings. Data meetings will be scheduled in advance as far as possible in accordance with the District's assessment calendar. Up to six (6) prep periods per year may be utilized for professional learning on early release afternoons. No more than one (1) prep period per week may be lost to either of these purposes.
- d. Preschool: the Association and the Committee recognize that preschool teachers currently have prep time one (1) day per week when school is not in session for all students. In the event that the preschool hours of operation change to five (5) days per week for all students, the Association and the Committee agree to enter into negotiations for a side letter of agreement to guarantee minimum weekly prep time for preschool teachers.
- e. Special education service providers, including psychologists, will be given a thirty (30) minute block per week in addition to the contractual minimum of prep time to be used for the student evaluation process.

If a teacher leaves the building during school hours, they will notify their Principal. Teachers who have first or last period as a prep period will request permission from their Principal each time they request to arrive at school after the first period begins or leave before the last period ends.

6.5 <u>Elementary Early Release Days and Elementary Conferences</u>

The elementary schools will have an early release dismissal of students one (1) day per week in accordance with the following guidelines:

• At least ten (10) of these days will be used for collaborative team time for all elementary educators.

- At least eight (8) days will be used for collaborative team time for classroom teachers and department meetings for non-classroom teachers. An effort will be made to schedule collaborative team time during weeks when daily prep periods are being utilized as grade-level data meetings.
- At least eight (8) of these days will be used for building-based professional learning.
- Teachers will schedule a fall and spring conference for each student's parent/caregiver. At least six (6) early release days will be allocated for these conferences and end of year work.
- Up to six (6) early release days will be used for district-wide professional learning.
- Up to four (4) of the building based professional learning meetings may extend thirty (30) minutes beyond the normal end of the school day.
- Teachers will work on early release days until the normal end of the school day, unless otherwise extended by mutual agreement between the District and the Association in order to allow teachers adequate travel time between the end of the school day with students and the start of professional learning.

To account for some of the additional time outside of the school day when conferences would need to be scheduled, teachers who hold parent/caregiver conferences will be provided the equivalent of an additional ninety (90) minutes of release/preparation time for the school year. The Principal will determine if that release time is provided through additional preparation periods or modification of a school-based early release Wednesday agenda. The additional release/preparation time may not necessarily be scheduled adjacent to when conferences are scheduled.

The above is based on a typical and meaningful parent/caregiver conference being approximately 15-30 minutes in length. Teachers should also continue to exercise flexibility and their professional judgment when scheduling conference times that are mutually accessible for the teacher and the parent/caregiver(s). When a teacher schedules conferences during contractual time, those conferences will be offered in-person or remotely based on parent/caregiver preference. When a teacher schedules conferences outside of contractual time, those conferences may be offered in-person or remotely based on teacher preference.

On district-wide early release days, district-wide late start days, and field trip days, prep periods may not be rescheduled. During MCAS and other specially scheduled activities, classroom teachers will be provided some prep time if there are staff members available for coverage. If prep periods are missed due to circumstances outlined in this section, the compensation described in Section 16.2 of this Agreement shall not apply.

6.7 <u>Schedules and Teaching Periods</u>

Academic subject area junior and senior high school teachers will not be assigned to more than five (5) single teaching periods per day unless agreed upon with the teacher. Senior high school English teachers will not be assigned to more than four (4) single teaching periods plus one (1)

duty per day unless agreed upon with the teacher. Normally, secondary school teachers will not be required to teach more than two (2) subjects nor more than a total of three (3) teaching preps within said subject at any one time.

The teaching schedules of elementary school specialist teachers, such as music, art, and physical education teachers, will be arranged among specialists, classroom teachers, and the Principal so that, to the extent reasonably possible, the teaching load of all such teachers within a given field will be comparable and consistent with the highest quality of education. In determining comparability of teaching loads, consideration will be given to necessary preparation time for classroom work, work with individual students, special programs, and other teaching responsibilities.

A full-time teaching load for an elementary specialist shall consist of no more than twenty-four (24) instructional periods of approximately forty-five (45) minutes each.

The schedules of elementary school nurses will be arranged between nurses and the Principal so that, to an extent reasonably possible, the nursing load of all such nurses within a given field will be comparable. In determining comparability of nursing loads, consideration will be given to necessary preparation time for special programs and other responsibilities.

- 6.8 Upon completion of grade level meetings to recommend assignments for the following school year, each teacher will receive a list of the students, including proper notation of students with disabilities, recommended for that teacher's class. Two weeks prior to the start of school, the Principal will inform the teacher of any known students added to or deleted from the teacher's proposed class.
- 6.9 Personnel other than classroom teachers will work at their assigned tasks for the length of the regular teacher's workday, as per this Agreement or at the discretion of the Principal.
- 6.10 Teachers will have a duty-free lunch period of approximately thirty (30) minutes.
- 6.11 There will be a minimum twenty (20) minute recess period each day in the elementary schools. Each elementary school teacher will be off duty for one such recess period on full school days.
- 6.12 If a special educator, guidance counselor, psychologist, speech and language therapist, or other service provider (collectively "special educator" for the purposes of this section) believes that their workload is excessive, they may request a meeting with their Principal and an Association representative. In the event that their Principal determines based on the evidence and information provided by the special educator that the special educator's workload is excessive, they will discuss options to address the special educator's workload. Their Principal may offer such options as: temporary relief from non-teaching duties, release time during the work day, and/or professional assistance to complete mandated requirements.

- 6.13 Teachers' participation in extracurricular activities will be strictly voluntary and teachers will be compensated for all such participation in accordance with the provisions of Schedule B in this Agreement.
- 6.14 If the Association President or Co-President so requests and the Superintendent deems it desirable, the Superintendent may adjust the teaching schedule of the President or Co-President to provide release time for the President or Co-President to handle matters requiring immediate consideration.
- 6.15 Junior high and senior high school teachers may be required to remain at school after the end of the regular work day, without compensation, to attend the following meetings:
 - a. Seventy-five (75) minutes one (1) day of each month or ten (10) days per school year for building level staff meetings.
 - b. Sixty (60) minutes one (1) day of each month or ten (10) days per school year for curriculum or department meetings.
 - c. As needed during the self-evaluation required by the NEASC accreditation process.

Elementary teachers may be required to report before school or remain after school once all buses leave, without additional compensation, to attend the following meetings:

- a. Sixty (60) minutes one (1) day of each month or ten (10) days per school year for building level staff meetings (also referred to as "A meetings").
- b. Sixty (60) minutes eight (8) days per school year for curriculum or department meetings (also referred to as "B meetings").
- 6.16 When feasible, there will be a certified librarian in every school.
- 6.17 The Association recognizes that a teacher's responsibilities include meeting the needs of students in relation to extra help. Every effort shall be made by the teacher to ensure that no student is denied a reasonable amount of individual attention outside of regular class periods when sought by a student or family or when thought necessary by a teacher. However, the District understands that this time must be scheduled in recognition of the numerous other commitments to the school system on the part of the teacher.
 - It is further recognized that a teacher's responsibilities include conferring with a parent or guardian when so requested by a parent or guardian or when thought necessary by the teacher. Such conferences should be held at mutually convenient times.
- 6.18 At the discretion of the Principal, field trips shall be encouraged to the extent of the budget allocated to each school for such purposes.

6.19 <u>Evening Obligations</u>

- a. All teachers shall be required to attend Back to School Night and one (1) other night at their Principal's discretion. This second night could include Kindergarten Night, a curriculum night, or family information sessions. If a teacher must miss Back to School Night due to extraordinary circumstances, they must request permission from their Principal as far in advance as possible. If approved, their Principal will determine alternative methods to connect with families.
- b. Junior high teachers may be required to attend one (1) evening conference as well as two (2) afternoon conference days scheduled on early release days. Any junior high conference night will end by 9:00 pm. Junior high teachers will be given release time for evening conferences in the form of an early release or late start before or after evening conferences.
- c. If Back to School Night, parent conferences, or any other evening obligation is held entirely virtually, teachers will be permitted to participate in that virtual evening event from outside the school building if they so choose.
- 6.20 During one of the professional days scheduled before the first day of school, elementary teachers will be given at least two (2) hours to work in classrooms, and junior and senior high school teachers will be given two (2) hours for a team or department meeting.
- 6.21 All currently-employed teachers will complete the Seeking Educational Equity and Diversity (SEED) and the Universal Design for Learning (UDL) courses by August 31, 2024. Newly hired teachers will complete the SEED and UDL courses within the first three (3) years of employment in the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District. The SEED and UDL courses will be funded by the District. SEED will be offered each year, within the District, as part of the District's professional learning program. If these courses are not offered within the District, teachers will complete these courses within a reasonable distance of the District or the teacher's home. The requirement to complete the SEED and UDL courses may be waived by the Superintendent.
- 6.22 Newly hired teachers will attend an orientation program as scheduled before school starts. They will participate in the District's Beginning Teacher Support Program, and they may be required to attend up to five (5) hour-long meetings for new teachers with their Principal outside of the school day throughout the school year.
- 6.23 Junior and senior high school counselors may be asked to work up to five (5) days during the summer and shall be paid their per diem rate for each summer day.
- 6.24 PreK-6 curriculum coordinators may be asked to work up to five (5) days during the summer and shall be paid at the R&D leader rate described in Schedule B for each summer day.

ARTICLE 7 CLASS SIZE

7.1 The desirable maximum number of students per teacher is as follows:

T1	C - l 1 -	
Elementary	SCHOOLS	

Kindergarten	20
Grade 1	20
Grades 2 through 6	25

Junior and Senior High Schools

Academic Subjects	25
Science Laboratories	25
Industrial Technology	15
Art	15
Mechanical Drawing	25
Physical Education	25
Study Hall	30

7.2 The Committee and the Association recognize that class size has a bearing on quality education and will, whenever possible, subject to space availability and other educational considerations, ensure that class size is of the most effective number for both teachers and students. Attainment of the desirable maximum number of students per teacher shall, however, be dependent on the practicalities with which the Committee must deal.

ARTICLE 8 NON-TEACHING DUTIES

- 8.1 The Committee and the Association acknowledge that a teacher's primary responsibility is to teach and their energies should, to the extent possible, be utilized to this end.
- 8.2 Teachers will not be required to perform the following duties to an extent greater than now in general performed:
 - a. Non-professional assignments, including but not limited to, milk distribution, supervision of sidewalks, buses and playgrounds, except in cases of emergency determined by their Principal.
 - b. Health services, such as administering eye and ear examinations and weighing and measuring students, except for members of the PE department who may presently perform such duties. This section does not apply to nurses.

- c. Collecting money from students for non-school related purposes. Although teachers may be required to collect and transmit money to be used for school related purposes, they will not be required to tabulate or account for such money.
- d. Delivering books to classrooms, keeping registers and clerical work on cumulative record cards, correcting and graphing of standardized tests, and other similar clerical functions.
- 8.3 Elementary teachers and nurses shall not be required to supervise lunch or recess.
- 8.4 Teachers shall not be required to drive students to activities which take place away from school buildings. If a teacher provides transportation for a student from their school or from the location of an authorized outside activity to the student's home, that activity shall be considered to be within the scope of the teacher's duties for the purposes of Chapter 258 of the Massachusetts General Laws.
- 8.5 When it is required that the contents of a room be moved, teachers will be provided with sufficient packing materials, and teachers will not be required to move materials to their new classroom or workspace.
- 8.6 Teachers who have a dedicated classroom or office and are involuntarily transferred or reassigned to a new room shall receive a stipend as compensation for packing and unpacking materials according to the chart below:

PreK-6 classroom teacher or curriculum coordinator	\$400
K-12 caseload educator	\$300
Junior high classroom teacher or high school teacher with a science lab	\$300
High school teacher with a dedicated single classroom space	\$200
Educator in an office	\$200

With the joint agreement of a teacher and their Principal, an alternative assignment day may be furnished as substitute compensation instead of the stipends described above.

ARTICLE 9 TEACHER EMPLOYMENT AND ASSIGNMENT

- 9.1 Upon employment or reemployment, a teacher will be placed on a mutually agreed step on the salary schedule.
- 9.2 Teachers within the school system will be notified in writing of their programs for the coming

school year, including the school to which they will be assigned, the grades and/or subjects that they will teach, and any special or unusual classes that they will have, as soon as practicable and under normal circumstances not later than June 1.

- 9.3 In order to ensure that students are taught by teachers working within their areas of expertise, teachers will not be assigned, except temporarily and for good cause, outside the scope of their teaching certification and/or their major or minor fields of study.
- 9.4 A Principal may move a teacher to another grade or subject for which they are certified. The Principal will notify a teacher of a change in grade or subject by March 1 if possible, so that the teacher may consider applying for any other openings in the District. The Association acknowledges that there may be circumstances in which a Principal may need to make a grade level or subject assignment decision later in the school year. The Principal will have final say over grade level and subject assignments within their school.
- 9.5 In arranging schedules for teachers who are assigned to more than one school, an effort will be made to limit the amount of inter school travel. Such teachers will be notified of any changes in their schedules as soon as practicable. Teachers who are assigned to more than one school in any one school day will receive reimbursement at the current IRS rate per mile for all inter school driving done by them.
- 9.6 Teachers who are required to travel between schools for the performance of their teaching duties shall be promptly notified in writing whenever it becomes known.

ARTICLE 10 TRANSFERS

- 10.1 Although the Committee and the Association recognize that some involuntary transfers of teachers from one school to another are unavoidable, they also recognize that frequent transfers of teachers disrupts the educational process and interferes with optimum teacher performance.
- 10.2 When a reduction in the number of teachers in a school is necessary and requires transferring teachers, volunteers will generally be transferred first.
- 10.3 When involuntary transfers are necessary, the educational needs of the students, a teacher's area of competence, major and/or minor field of study, quality of teaching performance, length of service in the Acton, Boxborough, and/or the Acton-Boxborough Regional School Districts, and other relevant factors will be considered in the District's decision-making process. Teachers being involuntarily transferred will be transferred to duties bearing an appropriate relationship to their experience or prior duties. An involuntary transfer to another school will only be made after a meeting between the teacher involved and their Principal, at which time the teacher will be told

why they have been selected as a teacher to be transferred. At that meeting, a teacher being involuntarily transferred will have the opportunity to discuss any openings in other schools and express their preferences. The teacher may apply for any vacancies in the District for which they are qualified.

- 10.4 A list of open positions in the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District will be made available to all teachers being transferred. All such teachers will be given reasonable time off for the purpose of visiting schools at which such openings exist.
- 10.5 Notice of transfer will be given to teachers as soon as practicable. Generally, such notice will be given by no later than June l.
- 10.6 Exceptions to the provisions of Sections 10.2, 10.3, 10.4 and 10.5 above may be made only if the Superintendent determines that it is necessary to do so in the best interests of the teacher(s) and/or school(s) affected. The Association will be notified of every instance in which the Superintendent so determines. A transfer made as the result of an exception pursuant to this section shall be subject to the grievance procedure set out in this Agreement and may be initiated at Level Two.

ARTICLE 11 VACANCIES

- 11.1 Whenever any vacancy occurs at the professional level between September I and June 30, notice of such vacancy will be posted on the Association bulletin board in each school as far in advance of the appointment as is reasonably possible. During the months of July and August, written notice of any such vacancy will be given to the Association. Such notice shall clearly set forth the qualifications for the position, its duties and the rate of compensation. If such qualifications are changed after such notice is given, the Association will be advised of such changes and the reasons reasonably in advance of the filling of such vacancy.
- 11.2 Any qualified teacher, whether or not employed by the District, who wishes to apply for a vacancy anywhere in the District, is welcome to follow the application process established for that vacancy. Consideration shall be given to each applicant's professional background, attainments, experience, length of service for the District or other relevant factors. Any teacher applicant who is not selected for a vacancy will receive notice from the Principal and may request a conference with the Principal to discuss the reasons for their non-appointment.
- 11.3 A list of open positions in the Acton-Boxborough Regional Schools, as the case may be, shall be made available to the Association.

ARTICLE 12 SUMMER SCHOOL

Reasonable advance notice of openings for positions in any summer school, evening school, or under federal programs will be given to the Association. Consideration in filling such openings will be given to an applicant's professional background, experience, length of service, and other relevant considerations. A teacher applicant shall be notified of the action taken with respect to their application as soon as reasonably possible.

ARTICLE 13 TEACHER EVALUATION

- 13.1 All monitoring or observation of the work performance of a teacher will be conducted openly and with full knowledge of the teacher.
- 13.2 Each teacher shall, upon request, be permitted to review the contents of their personnel files and to file a written answer to any material which the teacher deems to be derogatory or factually inaccurate. Such teacher shall be entitled to have a representative of the Association present during such review. No material which the Superintendent or the Principal determines to be derogatory to a teacher's conduct, service, character, or personality shall be placed in a teacher's personnel file unless the teacher has had an opportunity to review the material. The teacher shall acknowledge having had the opportunity to review such material by affixing their signature to the copy to be filed; however, such signature shall not indicate agreement with the content thereof.
- 13.3 Upon request, each teacher will be given a copy of any evaluation report prepared by their supervisor(s) and shall be given an opportunity to discuss such report with the appropriate supervisor(s).
- 13.4 Any complaint emanating from outside the school or from within the school which may result in a formal oral reprimand, a written reprimand, disciplinary action, or which may be used as a basis to formulate an objective under the evaluation process in this Agreement shall be brought to the teacher's attention in writing, including the identification of the complainant, within five (5) days of the receipt of said complaint by the District. The Committee and the Association agree that professional staff will recognize their responsibility to demonstrate sage professional judgment in dealing with such complaints and the individuals involved.
- 13.5 The Association recognizes the authority and responsibility of a Principal to reprimand or otherwise discipline a teacher for delinquency of professional performance. If a teacher is to be reprimanded or otherwise disciplined by a member of the administration they will be entitled to have a representative of the Association present.

- 13.6 No teacher with Professional Teacher Status shall be reprimanded, reduced in rank or compensation, or otherwise disciplined without good cause. If the discipline of a teacher rises to the level of suspension or termination, no teacher with Professional Teacher Status will be suspended or terminated without just cause. Teachers without Professional Teacher Status may be dismissed without notice within ninety (90) calendar days, and they may not be reappointed at the end of each school year without cause consistent with Chapter 71 of the Massachusetts General Laws.
- 13.7 The parties agree that Appendix C of this Agreement shall represent the procedure, philosophy, and instrument by which teachers shall be evaluated. Appendix C shall be periodically reviewed through a joint Association-District committee. Changes may be made outside of formal negotiations, but only with the agreement and signature of the Association President and the Superintendent.
- 13.8 Teachers who assume responsibility for any activity listed in Schedule B may be observed regularly by the administrator(s) responsible for the direction of the activity. Athletic coaches specifically will be evaluated based on the criteria described in Section 13.9. Any position listed in Schedule B shall be considered an "at will" position. Athletic coaches and advisors may be reappointed for subsequent years without posting the positions. Stipends for athletic coaches and advisors who go on a leave of absence will be prorated. If a teacher is not reappointed to any Schedule B position, they are entitled to a meeting with the appropriate administrator and an Association representative where the teacher will be provided with a reason for their non-reappointment. Athletic coaches and activity advisors who are otherwise part of the bargaining unit as defined in Article 1 of this Agreement may have representation from the Association for any reason at their request.
- 13.9 Varsity head coaches will be evaluated by the athletic director. Assistant coaches and JV coaches will be evaluated by head coaches under the supervision of the athletic director.

ARTICLE 14 TEACHER FACILITIES

- 14.1 The Committee shall maintain the following types of facilities at each school substantially to the extent as now provided:
 - a. Space in each classroom in which teachers may safely store instructional materials and supplies.
 - b. A teacher work area containing reasonably adequate equipment and supplies to aid in the preparation of instructional materials.

- c. An appropriately furnished room which will include a telephone, if the Association so requests, to be reserved for the exclusive use of the professional staff as a faculty lounge. The cost of any such telephone will be assumed by the Association.
- d. A communication system so that teachers can communicate with the main building office from their classroom.
- e. A well-lighted and clean adult restroom.
- f. A separate private dining area for the exclusive use of the professional staff.
- 14.2 Reasonably adequate reserved parking space for teachers will be provided at each school. Reserved parking space will be provided for the nurse at each school, reasonably close to the school entrance. Wherever possible, this parking space will allow entry and/or exit when buses are in the school driveways.
- 14.3 The District shall budget at least \$500 each year for the sole purpose of supplying each teacher with a secure and lockable teacher's desk and/or file cabinet until such time that each teacher shall be so provided.
- 14.4 The District shall maintain the following types of facilities for nurses at each school substantially to the extent as now provided:
 - a. Space to store materials.
 - b. A serviceable nurse's desk and chair at each school.

ARTICLE 15 USE OF SCHOOL FACILITIES

- 15.1 The Association will have the right to use school buildings without cost at reasonable times for meetings, with the approval of the Superintendent.
- 15.2 The teachers will have the right to use athletic facilities and equipment without cost when not otherwise used and whenever buildings housing such facilities are heated and lighted for any other purpose. The schedule and other related matters will be arranged in advance with the Superintendent.
- 15.3 There will be one (1) bulletin board in each school building, which will be placed in the faculty lounge, for the purpose of displaying notices, circulars, and other material approved by the Association. Copies of all such material will be promptly given to the Principal, but their advance approval will not be required. No material shall be posted which tends to question the good faith or misrepresents the position of any of the parties to this Agreement, incites ill feeling or animosity, or which constitutes campaign propaganda for or against rival factions within the Association.

ARTICLE 16 SUBSTITUTE TEACHERS

Positions which will be vacant for at least one (1) semester will, to the extent possible, be filled by personnel who have met the state certification requirements. For work beyond the forty-fifth (45th) day, the teacher will be placed on the salary schedule, the position on said schedule to be set by the Superintendent and the teacher.

16.2 <u>Compensation for Coverage and Missed Prep Periods</u>

- a. Teachers shall be entitled to a coverage stipend of 1/1500 of Bachelor's Step 1 per period in the following cases:
 - i. At the secondary level, when regular substitutes are not available and a teacher voluntarily agrees to serve as a substitute for a period during their non-teaching time
 - ii. At the secondary level, when a teacher spends all or most of their only daily prep period or all or most of their lunch period attending a special education meeting
 - iii. At the elementary level, when a teacher spends all or most of their prep period or lunch/recess period attending a special education meeting
 - iv. At the elementary level, when a teacher misses a prep period due to coverage or supervisory needs
- b. Teachers who teach an additional class continuously for more than three (3) weeks shall be paid 1/915 of Master's Step 3 for each day that school is in session and the teacher is at school. Such teachers shall provide planning, assess students, and report student progress as needed during this class coverage.
- c. Caseload educators who have an IEP meeting during their prep period or lunch will make an attempt to modify their schedule to allow for lunch or prep at another time of the day. If a caseload educator is unable to do that, they will work with their Principal to look for solutions. If there is no other option but to attend meetings during lunch or prep periods such that at the end of a given month, said caseload educator has not received the minimum prep time outlined in the contract, their Principal will offer compensatory release time or submit up to six (6) periods per month for compensation at the rate described in Section 16.2a.
- d. For the sake of clerical convenience, each school year the per period compensation rate described in Section 16.2a shall be rounded down to the nearest whole dollar amount.
- 16.3 At the elementary level, non-classroom teachers and counselors shall not be used as substitute teachers and teachers shall not be required to cover two (2) or more classrooms simultaneously, except on a voluntary basis or in an emergency situation.
- 16.4 In the event that two (2) or more elementary classroom teachers are asked to share responsibility for an uncovered classroom for all or most of a regular school day, each teacher providing such

coverage each day shall be eligible for 2.5 times the stipend described in Section 16.2a. The Association and the District agree that this manner of coverage is not ideal and should not be used regularly as an alternative to a substitute teacher, nor shall this manner of coverage be used for an extended period of time.

ARTICLE 17 REIMBURSEMENT

17.1 Course Reimbursement

The District will pay for fees and tuition for courses taken for the purpose of professional learning as funding allows. Acceptance of degrees and course credits for reimbursement shall be subject to the approval of the Superintendent. Said approval shall be sought in advance by teachers whenever possible. All degrees and credits shall be graduate level, taken directly from an accredited college or university or from a District in-service program. For the purposes of this section, "accredited" shall normally be defined as an institution accredited by a regional agency approved by the Council on Higher Education Accreditation (CHEA); this definition may be expanded at the discretion of the Superintendent. Credits from third party vendors (e.g. Learner's Edge, Professional Development Institute) that are not part of a degree program or not approved by the District may be used for PDPs, but will not be reimbursed. Teachers may not exceed 18 credits for reimbursement in any fiscal year. Credits taken in excess of 18 credits in a single fiscal year may not be carried over into the next year for reimbursement.

An individual teacher shall have the option of receiving reimbursement of up to \$1,200 per year for courses taken under the guidelines described in this section. The District budget for course reimbursements will be at least \$75,000 per year.

Reimbursement shall be received by the teacher within two (2) months after receipt of the transcript by the Superintendent. Reimbursement for course(s) taken during the spring semester or during a summer session shall be conditional upon the teacher's returning to the employ of the District for the school year which begins the September following the completion of such course(s). Funds for fall, spring, and summer professional learning opportunities shall be budgeted separately and awarded each season on a first-come, first-served basis; however, prior to approving a second request by a teacher, first requests by other teachers will be accommodated based on available funds.

Salary schedule lane advancement is discussed in this Agreement in Section 4.7.

17.2 <u>Travel Reimbursement</u>

The Committee will pay the reasonable expenses (including fees, meals, lodging and/or transportation) incurred by teachers who attend workshops, seminars, conferences or other professional learning sessions at the request of and/or with advanced approval from the

Superintendent. Funds for fall, spring and summer professional learning opportunities shall be budgeted separately, and awarded each period on a first-come-first-serve basis.

17.3 <u>Professional Certification Reimbursement</u>

Certified staff who are required to maintain professional certifications granted by licensing bodies other than the Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education shall complete the minimum number of Continuing Education Units as prescribed by the competent authority. The District will pay for the fees and tuition for such units which are taken with the advance approval of the Superintendent. Such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, unless the budget therefore has been expended. An individual may receive reimbursement up to \$1,200 per year. Such reimbursement shall be received within two (2) months after receipt of the transcript by the Superintendent.

ARTICLE 18 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM

- 18.1 A Research and Development (R&D) program shall exist to take advantage of teacher resources for the improvement of the schools by affording personnel opportunities to work on self-initiated proposals. Proposals for projects to be carried out under the R&D program may include such matters as curriculum planning, evaluation and selection of new materials, development of original materials, plans for implementing new teaching techniques, preparation of student reading lists, setting up experimental laboratory blocks, refining the teacher evaluation system, or any other worthwhile endeavor. No person who has submitted an R&D proposal will participate in deliberations on R&D proposals for that particular year.
- 18.2 Any teacher or teachers may submit to the appropriate administrators, a proposal in which the following are indicated:
 - a. Describe the nature of the work and what it might accomplish in terms of meeting an identified need.
 - i. Document the need as well as possible.
 - ii. Develop objectives to meet the need.
 - b. Describe the procedures that will be used to achieve the objectives including:
 - i. The number and names of teachers the project would involve with a contact person indicated.
 - ii. The estimated length of time required to complete the project. Proposed dates would be helpful, if possible.
 - iii. A schedule or sequence for accomplishment of the different objectives or phases of the project.
 - iv. An estimate of expenses for supplies, materials, travel, consultants, teachers' stipends (at the rate described in Schedule B), and the R&D leader's stipend (at

the rate described in Schedule B) with subtotals and a grand total for the cost of the proposed project.

- c. Describe the evaluation procedures to be used.
 - i. What method of evaluation do you plan for your proposal?
 - ii. What criteria will be used to determine the success or relative success of the proposal?
- 18.3 Teachers making a proposal for a project under this program must submit their proposal, as described in Section 18.2, to the District no later than April 1. Such proposal must be in writing, but may be in outline form.
- 18.4 Teachers who submit such a proposal will receive written notification of the Superintendent's action on it whenever practicable by April 15th, but no later than May 15th. Action by the Superintendent may take any of the following forms:
 - a. Approval.
 - b. Delayed approval. (To be used in the event that the Superintendent favors the proposal, but lacks sufficient funds for immediate approval, in which case the project will be given consideration for approval, at a future time.)
 - c. Non-approval, accompanied by reasons for the Superintendent's decision.
- 18.5 The Superintendent shall be notified as soon as reasonably possible if unforeseen developments make it impossible to carry out an approved project.
- 18.6 A teacher or teachers responsible for a project shall submit a report, upon completion of the project, to the Superintendent and appropriate administrators setting out the results of their work.
- 18.7 A high school department leader, junior high department coordinator, nurse leader, or other department chair may, pursuant to this Article, submit a proposal for one (1) additional work period beyond the end of the school year which shall not be more than two (2) weeks in duration. The provisions of Sections 18.2, 18.3, 18.4, 18.5, and 18.6 shall apply with respect to any such proposal.
- 18.8 The Association recognizes that the District may make curriculum changes from time to time. It is the intention of the District, to the extent practical, to announce any such changes prior to April 15 of the school year prior to the school year in which such changes are to become effective.
- 18.9 Teachers working on an R&D will receive additional compensation as listed in Schedule B. R&D participants will also have the option to receive one (1) in-service credit, at the rate of one credit per eighteen (18) hours, in lieu of a stipend, at the teacher's discretion.

ARTICLE 19 PROTECTION

- 19.1 Teachers will immediately report to the Principal all cases of assault, harassment, or bullying, including electronic forms of communication, suffered by them in connection with their employment. Such reports should be made in writing.
- 19.2 The report will be forwarded to the Superintendent, who will comply with any reasonable request from the teacher for information in their possession relating to the incident or the persons involved, and will act in appropriate ways as liaison between the teacher, the police, and the courts.
- 19.3 The Committee agrees that they shall procure insurance to indemnify members of the bargaining unit to the extent permitted under Chapter 258, Section 9 of the Massachusetts General Laws.
- 19.4 Teachers will report cases of assault and battery committed on any student upon the school grounds of which they have direct knowledge to the Principal as soon as possible. When, in their professional judgment, teachers consider it appropriate, they shall also report cases of verbal assault. If the Principal so directs, reports made under this section shall be completed in writing.

ARTICLE 20 INSURANCE AND ANNUITY PLANS

- 20.1 The District will pay: fifty percent (50%) of the cost of a \$15,000 term life insurance plan of the type presently available to teachers; fifty percent (50%) of the cost of individual or family coverage, whichever applies in the particular case, for the Blue Cross and Blue Shield preferred provider PPO plan, or a substantially equivalent plan with benefits not less than presently realized to be mutually agreed; fifty percent (50%) for any other indemnity plans the District may offer from time to time; fifty percent (50%) for any preferred provider PPO plans the District may offer from time to time; and seventy-five percent (75%) for any HMO plans the District may offer from time to time. Health insurance premiums shall be paid with pre-tax dollars in accordance with the Massachusetts General Laws.
- 20.2 A teacher's health insurance coverage will be continued during the period of an unpaid leave of absence granted pursuant to Article 5 of this Agreement, provided the teacher pays the total monthly cost of such coverage to the District within seven (7) days from the due date.
- 20.3 Teachers will be eligible to participate in a "tax sheltered" annuity plan established pursuant to current state and federal laws and regulations.

- 20.4 Teachers will be eligible to participate in a group dental insurance plan at the individual's expense.
- 20.5 The Association agrees to participate in the Health Insurance Trust should the town convene said trust. In the event that an agreement is reached requiring unit members to pay a higher insurance premium contribution, then the Association shall have the right to re-open the contract for the limited purpose of negotiating a salary increase prior to the implementation of any increase to insurance premium contributions.

ARTICLE 21 TEXTBOOKS

- 21.1 The District shall continue to provide sufficient textbooks to ensure that each student in a classroom using textbooks for regular instruction has a textbook for their own use.
- 21.2 The initiative for the selection and changes of textbooks is expected to come from the appropriate faculty, who will make their decisions through such committees and procedures which may from time to time appear convenient and efficacious to such faculty. Such decisions are subject to the approval of the Superintendent; however, such approval will ordinarily be limited to determinations of budgetary priorities.

ARTICLE 22 DUES DEDUCTION

22.1 The Committee agrees to deduct from the salaries of teachers who have on file an executed current dues deduction authorization card in the form set out below, dues for the Acton Boxborough Education Association, the Massachusetts Teachers Association, and the National Education Association and to transmit the monies to the Acton Boxborough Education Association treasurer. Teacher authorization shall be in writing in the form set below:

Name: _____

"Dues Deduction Authorization Card"

I hereby request and authorize the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District to deduct from my earnings and transmit to the treasurer of the Acton Boxborough Education Association \$______ to provide for regular payment of the annual membership dues of the Acton Boxborough Education Association, the Massachusetts Teachers Association, and the National Education Association in equal monthly deductions from the second paycheck in October and continuing through the second paycheck in May. This authorization may be withdrawn by me by giving at least sixty (60) days notice in writing of such withdrawing to the District. I further understand

that if I leave the system or withdraw this authorization before the end of the school year the balance due will be deducted from my last paycheck upon leaving or prior to the effective date of the withdrawal of this authorization, as the said monies so deducted and transmitted in accordance with this authorization, and relieve the Committee, and any or all Committee officers, from any liability thereof.

Teacher's Signature:	Date:
----------------------	-------

- 22.2 Deductions referred to in Section 22.1 will be made in eight (8) equal payments in amounts certified by the Association treasurer as being the regular membership dues of the Association, the Massachusetts Teachers Association, and the National Education Association on the second paycheck of each month commencing in October and continuing through the second paycheck in May.
- 22.3 The District treasurer will submit the amount of the deduction to the Association treasurer as soon as is reasonably possible after the issuance of the paycheck from which the deductions were taken.
- 22.4 The provisions of this Article shall be subject to the requirements of Chapter 180, Section 17C of the Massachusetts General Laws including the requirement that the treasurer of the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District, as the case may be, shall be satisfied by such evidence as they may require that the treasurer of the Association has given to the Association, a bond, in the form approved by the Commissioner of Corporations and Taxation, for the faithful performance of their duties, in a sum and with such surety or sureties as are satisfactory to either or both of the above described treasurers, as the case may be.
- 22.5 The Association shall indemnify and save the Committee harmless against any claim, demand, suit, or other form of liability that may arise out of, or by reasons of, action taken or not taken by the Committee for the purpose of complying with this Article or in compliance with any dues deduction authorization furnished to the Committee.

ARTICLE 23 PERSONAL INJURY AND PROPERTY LOSS

23.1 Personal Injury

A teacher who, as the result of an accident or assault which occurs in the course of their employment, is injured and is required to be absent from their duties as a teacher, will be paid their accrued sick leave, as provided in this Agreement (less workmen's compensation or any other disability income benefits to which they may be entitled). A claim under this section must be supported by satisfactory evidence if the Superintendent so requests. The Superintendent reserves the right to retain a physician at their own expense who may determine the condition of the teacher.

23.2 Property Loss

- a. The teacher will report any incident of property loss on the appropriate form within one (1) week.
- b. The teacher will document the incident stating such specifics as: (a) a description of the damaged, destroyed or stolen article; (b) the circumstances under which the problem occurred; (c) why the article was on school property (preferably how it impacts the "course of their employment"); (d) the "fair market value" of the article -- written estimate (professional or applicable); (e) when the incident was reported to the police if appropriate.
- c. Settlement will be made only up to the amount not covered by personal insurance (i.e. deductible amount). The teacher must submit a copy of their insurance documenting the deductible amount and the balance not covered by the policy.
- d. For autos, only damage which represents clear vandalism will be covered.
- e. In no case will damages of more than \$250 be paid to an individual who has no insurance.
- 23.3 At the request of the Committee, the Association's PR&R Committee will review any claim arising under this Article and make a recommendation to the teacher and the District as to the merits of the claim.

ARTICLE 24 GENERAL

- 24.1 If negotiation meetings between the Committee and the Association are scheduled during a school day, the representatives of the Association will be relieved from all regular duties without loss of pay as necessary in order to permit their participation in such meetings. If it is necessary for a teacher to attend an arbitration hearing or fact-finding proceeding held pursuant to this Agreement during the school day, they will, upon twelve (12) hours notice to their Principal, be released without loss of pay as necessary in order to permit attendance at such hearing or fact-finding proceeding. One (1) representative of the Association will, upon twelve (12) hours notice to their Principal, be released without loss of pay in order to permit attendance at such hearing or fact-finding proceedings.
- 24.2 The expense of providing a mutually-agreed upon number of printed copies of this Agreement will be shared by the Association and the Committee.
- 24.3 This Agreement constitutes policy of the Committee for the term of said Agreement, and the Committee will carry out the commitments contained herein and give them full force and effect as policy of the Committee.

ARTICLE 25 STAFF CHILDREN TUITION

- As a benefit for employees covered by this Agreement, the children of teachers may attend schools in the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District at no charge provided application is made no later than November 1 of the year before the child would attend school in the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District.
- 25.2 There shall be a maximum limit of three (3) such children per grade level in grades K-8. If more than three (3) children apply for admission, then three (3) shall be selected by lottery administered jointly by the Association and the Committee. If a lottery is required, it shall take place as soon as possible after the above mentioned registration deadline.
- 25.3 Staff children admitted under this Article will be subject to any conditions, fees, and tuition charged to other Acton-Boxborough students.
- 25.4 If a teacher's child is currently enrolled in the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District, their siblings will be guaranteed admission. Sibling admissions shall not be restricted to the limits outlined in Section 25.2.
- 25.5 There shall be no limit on the number of such children in grades 9-12. However, the application deadline in Section 25.1 above must be met.
- 25.6 K-6 teachers who reside in Acton or Boxborough may have their children assigned to the school in which they teach.
- 25.7 If the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District remains a choice community, and in the event any provision of the state's school choice law is in conflict with this Article, the language of Article 27 shall be implemented for the purpose of negotiating a substitute provision in compliance with the requirement of such law or regulation.

ARTICLE 26 NO DISCRIMINATION

There shall be no discrimination, restraint, or coercion by the Committee or the Association against any teacher because of membership or non-membership in the Association or participation in its affairs or because of a teacher's race, color, creed, national origin, age as defined by state law, gender, sexual orientation, marital status, or the lawful exercise by a teacher of political activity outside of school, as provided by law. Grievances alleging violations of this article shall not be advanced beyond Level Three and shall not be subject to arbitration, but other remedies may be pursued as provided by law.

ARTICLE 27 PRECEDENCE OF LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The accomplishment of the purposes of the existence of the Acton-Boxborough Regional District is paramount in the interests of the parties hereto, as well as in the public interest. In the administration of all matters covered by this Agreement, the Committee and the Association are governed by the provisions of this Agreement and any existing or future laws and regulations and amendments thereto which may be applicable, and this shall at all times be applied in accordance with and subject to such laws and regulations. Should any provision of this Agreement be deemed to be in conflict with any such laws or regulations, it may become the subject matter of discussion by the parties hereto for the purpose of attempting to negotiate a substitute provision in compliance with the requirements of such law or regulation.

ARTICLE 28 DURATION

- 28.1 This Agreement shall become effective as of July 1, 2023, and shall remain in effect through June 30, 2026.
- 28.2 This Agreement contains increases in salaries and fringe benefits above the levels of such salaries and fringe benefits which were in effect prior to the effective dates of the Agreement and of Schedules A, B, C, D, and E thereof. Such increases shall be implemented and paid to teachers to the extent permitted by applicable laws, orders and regulation.

ARTICLE 29 REDUCTION IN STAFF

- 29.1 In the event it becomes necessary to reduce the number of teachers with Professional Teacher Status included in the bargaining unit as defined in Article 1, teachers without Professional Teacher Status shall be dismissed before teachers with Professional Teacher Status. During any reduction in staff, teachers with Professional Teacher Status shall be dismissed in accordance with the criteria outlined in Sections 29.2 and 29.3.
- During a reduction in staff that impacts teachers with Professional Teacher Status, seniority may only be considered a tiebreaker for dismissal after job performance has been considered. A teacher's job performance shall be defined by the teacher's overall summative evaluation ratings, with proficient being considered equal to exemplary. Up to five (5) years of the most recent summative evaluation ratings will be used to consider a teacher's job performance, excluding the most recent evaluation ongoing during the year of the reduction in staff.

- 29.3 A teacher with Professional Teacher Status whose position is eliminated is entitled to a District-selected position for which they are qualified, provided that the position in question is currently open, or held by a teacher without Professional Teacher Status, or currently held by a less senior teacher of equal or lesser rated job performance as defined in Section 29.2. A teacher's minimum qualifications for a position shall be defined as appropriate licensure and at least one (1) year of prior experience in the last fifteen (15) years teaching the relevant subject matter or working in the same professional role.
- 29.4 Seniority shall be defined as length of service in the Acton, Boxborough, and/or Acton-Boxborough Regional School Districts inclusive of approved leaves of absence. Seniority shall be documented in a master list maintained by the Association and the District. The computation of length of service shall commence from a teacher's first working day when students are in session. In cases where more than one teacher's length of services commences on the same school day, said teachers' names shall be selected in a random drawing to establish specific placement on the seniority list. The first name chosen in such a drawing shall be credited with more seniority than any subsequent names drawn in that procedure. The second name drawn shall have the next most seniority rights, and so on, until all names have been drawn. As each new teacher is employed they will have their name placed at the bottom of a master seniority list. In the case of broken years the years of seniority shall be adjusted to add the years of prior service to the years of seniority from the current employment once the teacher has attained Professional Teacher Status after their return.
- 29.5 Teachers who will be impacted by a reduction in staff must be notified in writing no later than June 15th. Said notice shall include the specific reasons for the reduction in staff. Teachers who have been dismissed during a reduction in staff shall be entitled to recall rights for a period of two (2) years from the effective date of their respective dismissals. Teachers dismissed effective at the same time will be in a separate recall pool. Teachers in the most recently dismissed recall pool will be called back first, so long as they are qualified for the open positions(s) from which they were dismissed. During the recall period, teachers shall be notified by certified mail to their last address on record. Teachers being recalled from a reduction in staff must indicate their willingness to be available for a position within two (2) weeks of the receipt of the certified letter or recall. Failure to do so shall mean the teacher has waived their recall rights, if the position to which the teacher is being recalled was one that would be at least one (1) academic year in length. Teachers part of a reduction in staff may refuse recall positions which are shorter in length than one (1) academic year without forfeiting their seniority rights to recall. All benefits to which a teacher was entitled at the time of the reduction in staff shall be restored in full upon re-employment within the recall period. During the recall period teachers who have been part of a reduction in staff shall be given preference on the substitute list if they so desire.
- 29.6 Employees part of a reduction in staff may continue group health and life insurance coverage during the recall period as provided by the District to members of the bargaining unit by

- reimbursing the District for total premium costs. Failure to forward premium payments to the District or refusal to return to employment upon recall will terminate this option.
- 29.7 After a reduction in staff, the Superintendent agrees not to hire any new teachers unless no teacher part of said reduction is qualified to fill any open or new position, or all qualified teachers part of said reduction have declined an offer to fill the vacancy. A list specifying the seniority of each member of the bargaining unit shall be prepared by the Superintendent and forwarded to the President of the Association within thirty (30) days following the execution of this Agreement. An updated "seniority list" shall be supplied by the Superintendent annually thereafter.

ARTICLE 30 PARAPROFESSIONALS

- 30.1 Teachers shall be involved in the placement of paraprofessionals in their classrooms to the extent that the paraprofessional to be placed in a teacher's classroom will be consistent with the needs of the specific class in question in the judgment of the teacher involved.
- 30.2 Paraprofessionals shall only assume those duties in the classroom which, in the judgment of the teachers involved, are deemed to be in the best interest of the educational process.

ARTICLE 31 ADMINISTRATIVE SELECTION COMMITTEES

- 31.1 The Committee agrees that the Association will be represented by an Association appointee on any committee, other than one composed solely of administrators, established to recommend candidates for administrative positions to the Committee or the Superintendent. The Association representative shall maintain full voting rights and any other rights equivalent to those of any other committee member.
- 31. 2 Teachers will be solicited to participate in expressing their views regarding the construction or remodeling of a school. The Committee will recommend to the appropriate appointing authority that it consider appointing a member of the teaching staff to the committee which is responsible for the construction of a new school.

ARTICLE 32 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

32.1 The purpose of the procedure set forth hereinafter is to produce prompt and equitable solutions to grievances. The Committee and the Association desire that such procedure shall always be as informal and confidential as may be appropriate for the grievance involved at the procedural

- level involved. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent any teacher from individually presenting any grievance on their own behalf.
- 32.2 A grievance shall mean a complaint by a teacher or group of teachers concerning wages, hours, and/or conditions of employment.
- 32.3 Every effort shall be made by the aggrieved teacher and appropriate immediate superior to arrive at a settlement of the matter involved before resorting to the formal grievance procedure. The aggrieved teacher may, whenever feasible, first discuss the grievance with the PR&R Committee of the Association or its equivalent.
- 32.4 If the designated school official fails to provide a decision within the specified time limits, the grievance shall be deemed to have been denied on the day the decision was due, and the grievance shall be qualified to be carried to the next higher level.
- 32.5 No grievance shall be considered which is not presented within the time limits specified in Level One. Failure to appeal a decision to the next higher level within the specified time limits shall be considered as acceptance of the decision.
- 32.6 The formal processing of grievances shall be undertaken as listed below and shall be undertaken only during non-assigned hours.

LEVEL ONE

- a. If the matter has not been settled to the aggrieved teacher's satisfaction by informal discussion as provided in Section 32.3 of this Article, the teacher shall, within fifteen (15) days after the date on which the circumstances giving rise to the grievance became known to the aggrieved teacher, present a grievance orally or in writing to the Principal.
- b. Within five (5) days after receipt of the grievance by the Principal, they shall meet with the teacher and the representative of the Association in an effort to settle the grievance. The Principal shall provide a decision in writing within five (5) days of the date of this meeting.

LEVEL TWO

- a. If the grievance has not been settled at Level One to the satisfaction of the aggrieved teacher, the grievance shall be presented in writing to the Superintendent within five (5) days of the receipt of the Principal's decision.
- b. Within ten (10) days after receipt of the grievance by the Superintendent, their designated representative shall meet with the teacher and a representative of the Association in an effort to settle the grievance. The Superintendent shall provide a decision in writing within five (5) days of the meeting.

LEVEL THREE

- a. If the grievance involves an Appointing Authority executive matter including but not limited to issues involving hiring, assignments, leaves, promotions, evaluations, and disciplinary matters and has not been settled at Level Two to the satisfaction of the aggrieved teacher, the aggrieved teacher may not appeal to the District but may file for arbitration in accordance with law. If the grievance does not involve an Appointing Authority matter, it shall be presented in writing to the Committee within ten (10) days of the receipt of the Superintendent's decision.
- b. The Committee shall meet with the aggrieved teacher and the Association representative not later than twenty-five (25) days after it has received written notification from the Association that the Superintendent's decision is unsatisfactory.
- c. The Committee shall provide its decision in writing to the aggrieved teacher and to the President of the Association or their designated representative within ten (10) days after the meeting specified in subparagraph (b) of Level Three.
- d. If the grievance is not settled at Level Three, it may be taken to arbitration by the Association under the terms of Article 33 of this Agreement.
- 32.7 If the Committee and the Association or the aggrieved teacher (in instances in which the teacher pursues the grievance without the intervention of the Association) agree, a grievance may be presented initially to the Superintendent at Level Two (with a copy to the Principal), within the fifteen (15) day time limit referred to in Level One being applicable to such initial presentation. Within fifteen (15) days after receipt of the grievance by the Superintendent, they, or their designated representative, shall meet with the teacher and a representative of the Association in an effort to settle the grievance. The Superintendent shall provide their decision in writing within ten (10) days of the date of that meeting.
- 32.8 If a teacher presents a grievance without representation by the Association, the disposition of the grievance shall be consistent with the provisions of this Agreement. The Association shall be notified of the initiation of the grievance at Level One hereof (or Level Two hereof, if the grievance is initiated at that level pursuant to Section 32.7) and shall, if the Association so requests, be heard at each step thereof, and shall be notified of the decision reached at each level.
- 32.9 Settlements of grievances under this Article or awards under Article 33 may or may not be retroactive as the equities of each case may demand, but in no event shall a settlement be retroactive beyond more than fifteen (15) days prior to the date on which the grievance was presented in Level One hereof (of Level Two, if the grievance is initiated at that level pursuant to Section 32.7).

ARTICLE 33 ARBITRATION

- 33.1 A grievance involving the interpretation or application of a provision of this Agreement which has not been settled in accordance with the provisions of Article 32 may be taken to arbitration, subject to the provisions of this Article, by either of the Committee or the Association.
- A grievance involving the interpretation or application of a provision of this Agreement which has been settled in accordance with the provisions of Article 32 may be taken to arbitration, subject to the provision of this Article, by the Committee, provided that such Committee did not approve the settlement in question.
- 33.3 The party desiring arbitration shall notify the other parties to this Agreement of its intention to do so by letter presented to the Chairperson of the Committee and to the President of the Association, or to the designated representative of either, within twenty (20) days of the date of receipt of the notice of the decision at Level Three of Article 32.
- Arbitration shall be conducted in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement and then applicable Voluntary Labor Arbitration rules of the American Arbitration Association to the extent that such rules are not in conflict with provisions of this Agreement.
- 33.5 The Committee or the Association shall have standing to raise a question of arbitrability during the arbitration or in an appropriate forum.
- 33.6 Each party to arbitration shall bear the cost of preparing and presenting its own case. The expenses of the arbitration proceedings, including the fees and expenses, if any, of the arbitrator, shall be borne equally by the Committee and the Association.
- 33.7 The function of the arbitrator is to determine the interpretation and application of specific provisions of this Agreement. There shall be no right in arbitration to obtain, and no arbitrator shall have any authority or power to award or determine any change in, modification or alteration of, addition to, or detraction from, any of the provisions of this Agreement. The decision of the arbitrator, if within the scope of their power and authority under this Agreement and made in accordance herewith, shall be final and binding on the parties and on the teacher(s). Unless the parties otherwise agree, each grievance shall be separately processed in any arbitration proceedings hereunder, and the arbitrator shall furnish their opinion in writing specifying the reasons for their decision. The arbitrator shall not render a decision contrary to state or federal law.

33.8 No arbitrator shall have any authority or power to award any settlement to be retroactive beyond more than fifteen (15) days prior to the date on which the grievance was presented in Level One hereof (or Level Two hereof, if the grievance is initiated at that level pursuant to Section 32.7).

ARTICLE 34 CONTINUITY OF OPERATIONS

- 34.1 The Association agrees that no Association officer, Association representative, or teacher shall engage in, induce or encourage any strike (whether sympathetic, general or of any other kind), walkout, work stoppage, sit down, slow down, withholding of services, boycott (whether direct or indirect), concerted resignation or any other direct or indirect interference with the operation of the school district or school system. The Committee agrees not to conduct a lockout.
- 34.2 The Association and its members, individually and collectively, agree that if there is a violation of Section 34.1 of this Article, any or all teachers violating this clause will, at the discretion of the Superintendent, be subject to disciplinary action, including discharge or suspension, and the only question that will be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure is that of participation or involvement as described above.
- 34.3 In the event of a violation of this Article, either the Committee or the Association, as the case may be, may at its option institute any or all proceedings in a court of law or in equity or in arbitration pursuant to the procedure described in Article 33.

SCHEDULE A SALARIES

			Base Ann	ual Salary			
.75% increas	se over 2022-2023	3		_			
Years	Bachelor's Degree	Bachelor's B + 15	Master's or Bachelor's +36*	Master's M + 15	Master's M + 30	Master's M + 45	Doctorate or Master's +60
1	\$54,167	\$55,365	\$58,329	\$59,548	\$62,277	\$64,106	\$65,956
2	\$56,597	\$57,805	\$60,694	\$61,980	\$64,731	\$66,558	\$68,409
3	\$59,002	\$60,215	\$63,207	\$64,385	\$67,179	\$69,014	\$70,849
4	\$61,570	\$62,787	\$65,801	\$67,031	\$69,778	\$71,626	\$73,451
5	\$64,759	\$65,982	\$69,047	\$70,286	\$73,079	\$74,933	\$76,785
6	\$67,860	\$69,093	\$72,186	\$73,420	\$76,226	\$78,094	\$79,962
7	\$71,783	\$73,004	\$76,181	\$77,435	\$80,283	\$82,159	\$84,026
8	\$74,996	\$76,218	\$79,415	\$80,661	\$83,521	\$85,405	\$87,281
9	\$78,172	\$79,386	\$82,617	\$83,859	\$86,760	\$88,619	\$90,497
10	\$81,390	\$82,607	\$85,850	\$87,084	\$89,945	\$91,808	\$93,671
11	\$82,493	\$83,732	\$87,012	\$88,264	\$91,165	\$93,049	\$94,965
12	\$85,087	\$86,845	\$90,238	\$91,543	\$94,545	\$96,503	\$98,533
Supermax	\$2,000**	\$2,000**	\$2,000**	\$2,000	\$2,000	\$2,000	\$2,000
Supermax	\$1,000**	\$1,000**	\$1,000**	\$1,000	\$1,000	\$1,000	\$1,000

			Base Ann	ual Salary			
			Dase Allii	uai Salai y			
2.75% increas	e over 2023-2024	4					
	Bachelor's	Bachelor's	Master's or	Master's	Master's	Master's	Doctorate of
Years	Degree	B + 15	Bachelor's +36*	M + 15	M + 30	M + 45	Master's +60
1	\$55,656	\$56,888	\$59,933	\$61,186	\$63,990	\$65,868	\$67,770
2	\$58,154	\$59,395	\$62,363	\$63,684	\$66,511	\$68,388	\$70,290
3	\$60,624	\$61,871	\$64,945	\$66,156	\$69,027	\$70,912	\$72,797
4	\$63,263	\$64,514	\$67,610	\$68,874	\$71,697	\$73,596	\$75,471
5	\$66,540	\$67,796	\$70,945	\$72,219	\$75,089	\$76,993	\$78,896
6	\$69,726	\$70,993	\$74,171	\$75,439	\$78,322	\$80,242	\$82,161
7	\$73,757	\$75,011	\$78,276	\$79,564	\$82,491	\$84,418	\$86,337
8	\$77,058	\$78,314	\$81,599	\$82,879	\$85,818	\$87,754	\$89,681
9	\$80,322	\$81,569	\$84,889	\$86,165	\$89,146	\$91,056	\$92,986
10	\$83,628	\$84,878	\$88,210	\$89,479	\$92,418	\$94,333	\$96,247
11	\$84,761	\$86,035	\$89,404	\$90,691	\$93,672	\$95,608	\$97,577
12	\$87,427	\$89,233	\$92,720	\$94,061	\$97,145	\$99,157	\$101,242
Supermax	\$2,000**	\$2,000**	\$2,000**	\$2,000	\$2,000	\$2,000	\$2,000
Supermax 18+	\$1,000**	\$1,000**	\$1,000**	\$1,000	\$1,000	\$1,000	\$1,000

Teachers & Nurses Scale for 2025-2026

Base Annual Salary

			Duou / tilli	aai Galai y			
2.75% increas	se over 2024-2025	5					
	Bachelor's	Bachelor's	Master's or	Master's	Master's	Master's	Doctorate or
Years	Degree	B + 15	Bachelor's +36*	M + 15	M + 30	M + 45	Master's +60*
1	\$57,187	\$58,452	\$61,581	\$62,868	\$65,749	\$67,680	\$69,634
2	\$59,753	\$61,028	\$64,078	\$65,436	\$68,340	\$70,269	\$72,223
3	\$62,291	\$63,572	\$66,731	\$67,975	\$70,925	\$72,862	\$74,799
4	\$65,003	\$66,288	\$69,470	\$70,768	\$73,669	\$75,619	\$77,547
5	\$68,369	\$69,661	\$72,896	\$74,205	\$77,153	\$79,111	\$81,066
6	\$71,644	\$72,946	\$76,210	\$77,513	\$80,476	\$82,448	\$84,421
7	\$75,785	\$77,074	\$80,429	\$81,752	\$84,759	\$86,740	\$88,711
8	\$79,177	\$80,467	\$83,843	\$85,159	\$88,178	\$90,167	\$92,148
9	\$82,531	\$83,813	\$87,223	\$88,535	\$91,598	\$93,560	\$95,543
10	\$85,928	\$87,213	\$90,636	\$91,939	\$94,960	\$96,927	\$98,894
11	\$87,092	\$88,401	\$91,863	\$93,185	\$96,248	\$98,237	\$100,260
12	\$89,832	\$91,687	\$95,269	\$96,648	\$99,817	\$101,883	\$104,026
Supermax	\$2,000**	\$2,000**	\$2,000**	\$2,000	\$2,000	\$2,000	\$2,000
Supermax 18+	\$1,000**	\$1,000**	\$1,000**	\$1,000	\$1,000	\$1,000	\$1,000
						· ·	

^{**}Employees hired after July 1, 2014 will not be eligible for Supermax on the Bachelor's lanes except for as outlined in Article 4.9.

SCHEDULE B SALARIES ATHLETIC COACHING AND ADVISORS STIPENDS

- 1. Compensation for athletic coaches and activity advisors shall be based on the number of hours required for the sport or activity. As a result, the athletic coach or advisor position will be placed on Category 1 through 11 listed below, which shall determine the salary for the position.
- 2. All stipends for athletic coaches and activity advisors will be based on a percentage of the varsity head football coach's salary. That percent is based on the category placement of the position.
- 3. The remainder of the athletic and non-athletic salaries are placed in categories based on the criteria used by the Association and the District. The placement of those categories is included below.
- 4. All athletic coaches and activity advisors will be placed on respective Steps 1 through 4 based on years of experience.
- 5. The salaries for all JV, assistant, and freshman coaches will be 65% of the salary of the varsity head football coach for the respective sport.
- 6. New activity advisor or athletic coaching positions may be added via a Side Letter of Agreement and then added to Schedule B following the next successive negotiations.

SCHEDULE B STIPENDS

2023-2024				
CATEGORY	STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4
1	\$7,992	\$8,795	\$9,673	\$10,639
2	\$6,476	\$7,124	\$7,835	\$8,618
3	\$5,757	\$6,332	\$6,964	\$7,661
4	\$4,636	\$5,101	\$5,612	\$6,171
5	\$3,515	\$3,869	\$4,257	\$4,681
6	\$2,719	\$2,991	\$3,290	\$3,619
7	\$2,318	\$2,551	\$2,805	\$3,085
8	\$1,678	\$1,848	\$2,030	\$2,235
9	\$1,118	\$1,232	\$1,356	\$1,490
10	\$799	\$880	\$967	\$1,064
11	\$400	\$441	\$484	\$533

2024-2025				
CATEGORY	STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4
1	\$ 8,212	\$ 9,037	\$ 9,939	\$ 10,932
2	\$ 6,654	\$ 7,319	\$ 8,050	\$ 8,855
3	\$ 5,915	\$ 6,506	\$ 7,155	\$ 7,871
4	\$ 4,763	\$ 5,241	\$ 5,766	\$ 6,341
5	\$ 3,612	\$ 3,975	\$ 4,374	\$ 4,809
6	\$ 2,794	\$ 3,074	\$ 3,380	\$ 3,719
7	\$ 2,382	\$ 2,621	\$ 2,882	\$ 3,170
8	\$ 1,724	\$ 1,899	\$ 2,086	\$ 2,297
9	\$ 1,149	\$ 1,266	\$ 1,394	\$ 1,531
10	\$ 821	\$ 904	\$ 994	\$ 1,093
11	\$ 411	\$ 453	\$ 498	\$ 548

2025-2026				
CATEGORY	STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4
1	\$ 8,438	\$ 9,286	\$ 10,213	\$ 11,232
2	\$ 6,837	\$ 7,521	\$ 8,272	\$ 9,099
3	\$ 6,078	\$ 6,685	\$ 7,352	\$ 8,088
4	\$ 4,894	\$ 5,385	\$ 5,924	\$ 6,515
5	\$ 3,711	\$ 4,084	\$ 4,495	\$ 4,941
6	\$ 2,870	\$ 3,158	\$ 3,473	\$ 3,821

7	\$ 2,447	\$ 2,693	\$ 2,962	\$ 3,257
8	\$ 1,771	\$ 1,951	\$ 2,143	\$ 2,360
9	\$ 1,181	\$ 1,301	\$ 1,432	\$ 1,573
10	\$ 844	\$ 929	\$ 1,021	\$ 1,123
11	\$ 422	\$ 465	\$ 511	\$ 563

HIGH SCHOOL STIPENDS

The stipend for all JV, assistant, and freshman coaches will be 65% of the stipend of the varsity coach for the respective team.

Category 1 (100%)	Category 7 (29%)
Varsity (Head) Football Coach	Jazz Band
Category 2 (81%)	Ambassador Program
Varsity (Head) Basketball Coach	Category 8 (21%)
Varsity (Head) Hockey Coach	ABCO
Varsity (Head) Lacrosse Coach	AB Human Rights
Yearbook	Anime Crew
Category 3 (72%)	Art Club
Academic Decathlon	ASHA
Band Director	AB Buddies
Varsity (Head) Baseball Coach	Badminton
Varsity (Head) Field Hockey Coach	Bio Builders
Varsity (Head) Soccer Coach	Common Ground
Varsity (Head) Softball Coach	Curriculum Teacher Leader
Varsity (Head) Spring Track Coach	Dungeons and Dragons
Varsity (Head) Volleyball Coach	Esports
Varsity (Head) Winter Track Coach	Future Business Leaders
Varsity (Head) Softball Coach	HOSA (Future Healthcare Professionals)
Varsity (Head) Swimming Coach	Idealab
Varsity (Head) X-Country Coach	Interact Club
Category 4 (58%)	Invisible Children
Newspaper	Junior Class Advisor
Unified Basketball	Model UN
Unified Track	National Honor Society
Varsity (Head) Gymnastics Coach	Outdoor Club
Varsity (Head) Ski Coach	Peer Leaders
Varsity (Head) Tennis Coach	Recycling Group
Varsity (Head) Wrestling Coach	Research Club
A World of Difference Advisor	TGIF Video Game
Category 5 (44%)	Youth in Philanthropy

Spectrum	
Student Council	Category 9 (14%)
Varsity (Head) Cheerleading Coach	9 Lives Dance Club
Varsity (Head) Golf Coach	Active Minds
NEASC Coordinator (x2 positions)	Archery Club
(1 stipend for multi-year responsibilities)	
Category 6 (34%)	Black Student Union
Envirothon	CHARMS Club
High School Trivia Team	Chess Club
Mathleague	Chinese Club
Mock Trial	Fire and Rain
Science Olympiad	French Club
Senior Class Advisor	Freshman Class Advisor
Speech and Debate (2 positions)	Girls in Science
Window St/Creative Writing	Greek Club
Ocean Bowl	Korean Language Club
	Muslim Student Association
	Ping Pong
	Podcast Club
	Sophomore Class Advisor
	Young Democrats Club
	Young Republicans Club
	Category 10 (10%)
	Category 11 (5%)
	AB Students for Equity and Justice
	American Sign Language Club
	Data Science Club
	Dear Asian Youth
	Economics and Investing Club
	Entrepreneurship Club
	Rowing Society
	Student interest groups

JUNIOR HIGH SCHOOL STIPENDS

The stipend for all assistant coaches will be 65% of the stipend of the varsity coach for the respective team.

Category 1 (100%)	Category 8 (21%)
Category 2 (81%)	Chorus
Category 3 (72%)	Common Ground

A/V Auditorium Coordinator	Cooking Club
Category 4 (58%)	Curriculum Teacher Leader
JH Athletic Director	Dance Bollywood
Yearbook	Garden Manager
A World of Difference Advisor	Literacy Club
Category 5 (44%)	Ski Club
Drama Club and Productions	Social Activism
Head Coaches	Yoga Club
JH Student Council	
Category 6 (34%)	Category 9 (14%)
AB Blueprint	Art Club
Math Counts	Book Club
Science Olympiad	Games Club
JH Speech Team	Climate Club
Category 7 (29%)	Creative Writing
Current Events	Engineering and Technology
Drama Club	Garden and Landscape Design
Jazz Band	Marvel Club
	School Store
	Science Fair Project Club
	Variety Show
	Category 10 (10%)
	Category 11 (5%)
	Anime Club
	French Club
	Spanish Club
1	Student interest groups

ELEMENTARY STIPENDS

Role	Category
Student Council Advisor	11, Step 4
Green Team Advisor	11, Step 4
School Community Events Coordinator	10, Step 4
Newspaper Club	11, Step 4

Elementary Student Clubs - Weekly Meetings	10
Elementary Student Clubs - Monthly Meetings	11
Instructional Leadership Team (ILT) Member	11
Instructional Leadership Team (ILT) Coach Stipend	9

Elementary overnight stipends (e.g. Nature's Classroom, Merrowvista, Cape Cod) are \$100 per night.

Teachers who lead a class or workshop requiring significant preparation as part of a one time or ongoing professional learning opportunity not otherwise compensated as part of the District's professional learning program will earn a stipend of \$100.

The student activity budget will be increased each year by the percentage increase negotiated for Schedule B activities. The District will work with the Association to review stipend amounts and to determine which clubs and activities are funded, and any that may be removed. Clubs will not be funded in the first year.

R&D Leader: Daily rate of \$225 R&D Participant: Daily rate of \$200 Chaperone Stipend: \$25 per hour*

SYSTEM-WIDE STIPENDS

	2023-2024	2024-2025	2025-2026
Mentor Co-Coordinator (stipend is for each co-coordinator)	\$3,106	\$3,192	\$3,280
PreK-6 Curriculum Coordinator	\$4,344	\$4,463	\$4,586
Mentor	\$946	\$972	\$999
Mentor Buddy	\$710	\$730	\$750
Mentor Pal	\$473	\$486	\$500
High School Fitness Center Coordinator	\$2,500	\$2,569	\$2,639
504 Coordinator	\$5,000	\$5,138	\$5,279

SCHEDULE B JUNIOR HIGH AND SENIOR HIGH DRAMA STIPENDS

2023-2024	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4

^{*}This rate is subject to increase commensurately if the hourly rate for athletics event duties increases.

Director: large productions	\$3,500	\$3,780	\$4,082	\$4,409
Crew Chief: large productions	\$2,500	\$2,700	\$2,916	\$3,149
Production Services: per service	\$70	\$75	\$80	\$85
Director: small productions	\$2,450	\$2,646	\$2,858	\$3,087
Crew Chief: small productions	\$1,250	\$1,350	\$1,458	\$1,575

2024-2025	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4
Director: large productions	\$3,596	\$3,884	\$4,194	\$4,530
Crew Chief: large productions	\$2,569	\$2,774	\$2,996	\$3,236
Production Services: per service	\$72	\$77	\$82	\$87
Director: small productions	\$2,517	\$2,719	\$2,937	\$3,172
Crew Chief: small productions	\$1,284	\$1,387	\$1,498	\$1,618

2025-2026	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4
Director: large productions	\$3,695	\$3,991	\$4,310	\$4,655
Crew Chief: large productions	\$2,639	\$2,851	\$3,079	\$3,325
Production Services: per service	\$74	\$79	\$84	\$90
Director: small productions	\$2,587	\$2,794	\$3,017	\$3,259
Crew Chief: small productions	\$1,320	\$1,425	\$1,539	\$1,663

Examples of Director Roles: Director, Technical Director

Examples of Crew Chief Roles: Choreographer, Set Design, Music Director

Examples of Production Services: Musician, Construction, Dialect/Vocal Coach, Fight Choreographer

SCHEDULE C SALARIES

2023-2024	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4
High School Department Leader	\$8,232	\$8,445	\$8,660	\$8,874
Junior High Department Coordinator	\$5,559	\$5,772	\$5,987	\$6,201
Department Chair	\$5,559	\$5,772	\$5,987	\$6,201
Junior High Counseling Liaison (¾ of JH Dept. Coordinator stipend)	\$3,706	\$3,848	\$3,991	\$4,134

Junior High Department Liaison	\$1,250	\$1,300	\$1,350	\$1,400
2024-2025	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4
High School Department Leader	\$8,458	\$8,677	\$8,898	\$9,118
Junior High Department Coordinator	\$5,711	\$5,931	\$6,152	\$6,371
Department Chair	\$5,711	\$5,931	\$6,152	\$6,371
Junior High Counseling Liaison (% of JH Dept. Coordinator stipend)	\$3,807	\$,3954	\$4,101	\$4,247
Junior High Department Liaison	\$1,284	\$1,336	\$1,387	\$1,439
2025-2026	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4
High School Department Leader	\$8,691	\$8,916	\$9,143	\$9,368
Junior High Department Coordinator	\$5,869	\$6,094	\$6,321	\$6,546
Department Chair	\$5,869	\$6,094	\$6,321	\$6,546
Junior High Counseling Liaison (¾ of JH Dept. Coordinator stipend)	\$3,827	\$4,062	\$4,214	\$,4364
Junior High Department Liaison	\$1,320	\$1,372	\$1,425	\$1,478

SCHEDULE D SALARIES EXTRA CLASSES STIPENDS

For the duration of this Agreement, a teacher who agrees to teach an additional section beyond the full-time load of five (5) sections shall receive salary compensation in accordance with the table below for a full year course. In the event that this assignment occurs during the school year, the teacher will receive a prorated salary adjustment in accordance with the schedule. Such pay shall be included as part of a teacher's base salary and will be computed as the equivalent of 20% of Master's Step 3.

	2023-2024	2024-2025	2025-2026
Schedule D extra class stipend	\$12,641	\$12,989	\$13,346

SCHEDULE E SALARIES ALTERNATIVE PROGRAM STIPENDS

For the duration of this Agreement, a teacher who agrees to teach an alternative program course beyond the full-time load of five (5) sections shall receive salary compensation in accordance with Schedule E below for a full year course. In the event that this assignment occurs during the school year, the teacher will receive a prorated salary adjustment in accordance with the schedule. Such pay shall be included as part of a teacher's base salary and will be computed as the equivalent of 12% of Master's Step 3.

Other alternative program service positions shall be paid according to the percent of an alternative academic subject teachers pay as described above in the table below:

SCHEDULE E PERCENTAGES

Academic Subject Teacher	100%
Psychologist/Counselor	100%
Program Coordinator	80%
Vocational Coordinator	80%
Program Specialist	75%
Transition Program Coordinator	60%

SCHEDULE E STIPENDS

	2023-2024	2024-2025	2025-2026
Academic Subject Teacher	\$7,528	\$7,736	\$7,948
Psychologist/Counselor	\$7,528	\$7,736	\$7,948
Program Coordinator	\$6,023	\$6,188	\$6,358
Vocational Coordinator	\$6,023	\$6,188	\$6,358
Program Specialist	\$5,646	\$5,801	\$5,961
Transition Program Coordinator	\$4,517	\$4,641	\$4,769

APPENDIX A

Acton-Boxborough Regional School District APPOINTMENT LETTER

_	_			
1	٦	_	1	
•	,	11	т	v

TO: Teacher Subject School

We are pleased to inform you that you have been appointed/reappointed to serve in the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District for the 20xx-xx school year.

Your employment will be subject to and governed by the terms of the collective bargaining agreement in effect between the Acton-Boxborough Regional School Committee and the Acton Boxborough Education Association (the "Agreement"), the policies and procedures of the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District, and all applicable local, state and federal laws. Your employment is contingent upon our receipt of a valid certificate for the position for which you have been appointed, in accordance with state law.

In accepting this appointment, you agree that, should you wish to resign from your position before the end of the school year, you will give the school at least 30 days advance written notice of your intention to do so (60 days advance written notice if your resignation is to be effective in September). The school may terminate your employment only in accordance with the Agreement and applicable laws. If your employment is terminated for any reason before June 30, your salary for the period of employment will be the amount of the salary stated below, on an annualized basis, divided by the number of days in the school year and multiplied by the number of days taught by you during the school year.

You may be required to travel between school buildings for the performance of your duties.

Your step placement and salary will be as follows:

FTE Step Base Pay Supermax Longevity Total Pay

Superintendent

Acton-Boxborough Regional School District SALARY SHEET

То:	Certified Staff and School Nurses
From:	Deputy Superintendent
[Name	Address] y Contact Number] Updated Address/Phone:
Please	ill in information below:
School	s)
Grade	evel and title
	f will receive 26 pays (which includes the lump sum in June) unless you notify us that you pays (no lump sum).
Sign h	r ONLY IF you want to receive 21 pays (no lump sum)
you ar	nticipate a salary change in September due to additional credits, sign this salary sheet, note that icipate a salary change and return this form to your principal by the requested date. Upon receipt twork verifying your salary change, a revised appointment letter will be sent to you.
I antic	ate a salary change in September: Yes No
Signat	reDate signed
Returr	this form to Human Resources by [date]
	NO CHANGES WILL BE ALLOWED AFTER THIS FORM IS RETURNED.
	Annual Gross Salary Number of Checks
FTE &	Step BasePay + Longevity + Supermax = Total Pay
Step	
Longe	ity Date
Teache	Service Years

APPENDIX B CONTRACT FOR EXTRA DUTIES

The Acton-Boxborough Regional Sch	ool District agree(s) to employ	
in the capacity of	during the	school year.
,	nool Committee policy and the Agreemon Association. The compensation for thi	
The contract may be terminated at an otherwise this contract may be termination is to become effective that if the termination is to become effective that it is the termination in the termination is to become effective that it is the termination in the termination is to become effective that it is the termination in the termination is to become effective that it is the termination in the termination in the termination is to become effective that it is the termination in the termination in the termination is to become effective that it is the termination in the termination in the termination in the termination is to become effective the termination in th	asis. Renewal for the following year or say time by mutual consent of the employ nated upon written notice to the other a fective in September, written notice of a before the teacher has completed their ed.	yee and the School District, t least thirty (30) days, except at least sixty (60) days shall be
The undersigned is to be paid half of season.	the salary mid-way through the season	and half at the end of the
Superintendent		
Staff Member	 Date	

APPENDIX C EDUCATOR EVALUATION CONTRACT LANGUAGE

PART 1: INTRODUCTION

1. <u>Purpose of educator evaluation</u>

The purpose of the District's evaluation system is to promote student learning and achievement by providing educators with feedback for growth. Evaluators are expected to make frequent unannounced visits to classrooms and give targeted constructive feedback to educators. Feedback and ratings are based on observations and discussions of practice, examination of evidence, and analysis of multiple measures of student learning, growth, and achievement in relation to the Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice (603 CMR 35.03).

2. <u>Definitions</u>

- a. Artifacts of professional practice: products of an educator's work and student work samples that demonstrate the educator's knowledge and skills with respect to specific performance standards.
- b. Caseload educator: educators who teach or counsel individual or small groups of students through consultation with the regular classroom teacher, for example, school nurses, guidance counselors, speech and language pathologists, and some reading specialists and special education teachers.
- c. Classroom teacher: educators who teach PreK-12 whole classes, and teachers of special subjects such as art, music, library, and physical education. May also include special education teachers and reading specialists who teach whole classes.
- d. School counselor: educators who support students and families in their social and emotional well-being. Counselors will be evaluated using a rubric tailored to their specific positions.
- e. School nurse: educators who support students and families in their health and physical well-being. Nurses will be evaluated using a rubric tailored to their specific positions.
- f. Categories of evidence: multiple measures of student learning, growth, and achievement, judgments based on observations and artifacts of professional practice, including unannounced observations of practice of any duration; and additional evidence relevant to one or more Standards of Effective Teaching Practice (603 CMR 35.03).
- g. Educator(s): inclusive term that applies to all classroom teachers, caseload educators, counselors, psychologists, and school nurses unless otherwise noted.
- h. Educator plan: the growth or improvement actions identified as part of each educator's evaluation. The type of plan is determined by the educator's career stage, overall performance rating, and the rating of impact on student learning, growth and achievement. There shall be four types of educator plans:

- "Self-directed growth plan" shall mean a plan developed by the educator for one or two school years for educators with Professional Teacher Status (PTS) who are rated Proficient or Exemplary.
- ii. "Directed growth plan" shall mean a plan developed by the educator and the evaluator of one school year or less for educators with PTS who are rated Needs Improvement.
- iii. "Improvement plan" shall mean a plan developed by the evaluator of at least thirty (30) calendar days and no more than one (1) school year for educators with PTS who are rated Unsatisfactory with goals specific to improving the educator's unsatisfactory performance. In those cases where an educator is rated Unsatisfactory near the close of a school year, the plan may include activities during the summer preceding the next school year.
- i. Evaluation cycle: a four-component process that all educators follow consisting of 1) goal-setting and educator plan development; 2) implementation of the plan; 3) mid-cycle review; and 4) summative evaluation.
- j. Goal: a specific, actionable, and measurable area of improvement as set forth in an educator's plan. A goal may pertain to any or all of the following: educator practice in relation to performance standards, educator practice in relation to indicators, or specified improvement in student learning, growth, and achievement. Goals may be developed by individual educators, by the evaluator, or by teams, departments, or groups of educators who have the same role.
- k. Measurable: that which can be classified or estimated in relation to a scale, rubric, or standards.
- Non-observation feedback: written feedback may be provided during the evaluation
 cycle related to non-classroom standards and indicators. Non-observation feedback
 forms may be used to provide positive or negative feedback related to performance that
 happens outside of classroom instruction. Non-observation feedback forms will be in
 addition to the minimum number of observations of practice, and they will be considered
 part of the evaluation record.
- m. Observation: notes and judgments made by an evaluator during one or more classroom or worksite visits(s) of any duration. Observations may take place in multiple settings and at various times. These include but are not limited to classrooms, meetings, professional learning activities, student or staff small group work, and/or interactions with students, families, or colleagues. Observations will be followed up by a conversation between the evaluator and the educator and a written feedback form summarizing the conversation.
- n. Performance rating: describes the educator's performance on each performance standard and overall. There shall be four performance ratings:
 - i. *Exemplary*: the educator's performance consistently and significantly exceeds the requirements of a standard or overall. The rating of Exemplary on a standard indicates that practice significantly exceeds Proficient.

- ii. *Proficient*: the educator's performance fully and consistently meets the requirements of a standard or overall. Proficient practice is understood to be fully satisfactory.
- iii. *Needs Improvement*: the educator's performance on a standard or overall is below the requirements of a standard or overall, but is not considered to be Unsatisfactory at this time. Improvement is necessary and expected.
- iv. *Unsatisfactory*: the educator's performance on a standard or overall has not significantly improved following a rating of Needs Improvement, or the educator's performance is consistently below the requirements of a standard or overall and is considered inadequate, or both.
- o. Rating of overall educator performance: the educator's overall performance rating is based on the evaluator's professional judgment and examination of evidence of the educator's performance against the four performance standards and the impact of goals set forth in the educator plan, as follows:
 - i. Standard I: Curriculum, Planning and Assessment
 - ii. Standard II: Teaching All Students
 - iii. Standard III: Family and Community Engagement
 - iv. Standard IV: Professional Culture
 - v. Impact of Professional Practice Goal(s)
 - vi. Impact of Student Learning Goal(s)
- p. Rubric: a tool that describes characteristics of practice or artifacts at different levels of performance. The rubrics for Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice are used to self-assess and to rate educators on performance standards. These rubrics consists of:
 - i. Standards: describes broad categories of professional practice, including those required in 603 CMR 35.03
 - ii. Indicators: describes aspects of each standard, including those required in 603 CMR 35.03
 - iii. Elements: defines the individual components under each indicator
 - iv. Descriptors: describes practice at four levels of performance for each element
- q. Summative evaluation: an evaluation used to arrive at a rating on each standard, an overall rating, and as a basis to make personnel decisions. The summative evaluation includes the evaluator's judgments of the educator's performance against the performance standards and the educator's attainment of goals set forth in the educator's plan.
- r. Teacher: an educator employed in a position requiring a certificate or license as described in 603 CMR 7.04(3)(a, b, and d) and in the area of vocational education as provided in 603 CMR 4.00. Teachers may include, for example, classroom teachers, librarians, guidance counselors, or school nurses.

PART 2: EVALUATION COMPONENTS

An educator will be evaluated based on the following:

1. Observations and discussions

Observations, discussions, and feedback are critical components of a successful evaluation process. The emphasis should be on evaluators visiting classrooms and discussions about teaching and learning.

a. For educators with Professional Teacher Status who were rated Proficient or Exemplary in the previous evaluation cycle, evaluators will complete at least three (3) unannounced observations of practice for a minimum of fifteen (15) minutes each over the two year evaluation cycle. In this case, at least one (1) observation shall be completed by May 1 of each school year. If an educator with Professional Teacher Status requests more than three (3) observations in a two year evaluation cycle, the evaluator shall make every effort to meet that request when feasible.

If concerns develop about an educator who was rated Proficient or Exemplary in the previous evaluation cycle, the evaluator may add a mid-cycle review meeting with ratings in February. Overall ratings of Needs Improvement or Unsatisfactory will only be given after a minimum of five (5) observations.

For educators without Professional Teacher Status, evaluators will complete a minimum of five (5) unannounced observations of practice for a minimum of fifteen (15) minutes each during the educator's one year evaluation cycle.

Evaluators may also provide non-observation feedback during the evaluation cycle to provide feedback to the educator related to non-classroom standards and indicators. These non-observation feedback forms can provide positive or negative feedback related to performance that takes place outside of classroom instruction. Non-observation feedback forms will be in addition to the minimum number of observations of practice, and they will be considered part of the evaluation record.

- b. For educators who work 0.5 FTE or less, there will be three (3) observations in each one year or two year evaluation cycle.
- c. Observations may take place in multiple settings and at various times. These include but are not limited to classrooms, meetings, professional learning activities, student or staff small group work, and/or interactions with students, families, or colleagues.
- d. While goals may not be set until October, observations may start at the beginning of the school year.
- e. Observations relate to all forms of an educator's practice, not just their goals.
- f. After an observation, the educator and evaluator will make every effort to meet and discuss the observation within three (3) school days, unless extraordinary circumstances prevent a meeting within that time frame.

- g. The evaluator will make every effort to provide a brief written summary of the observation to the educator within three (3) school days of the post-observation discussion.
- h. The educator will sign the written summary within three (3) school days of receiving it. If the educator has not signed the observation form, the mid-cycle review report, or the summative report within three (3) school days of receiving it, the document will be considered signed.
- i. The educator will have an opportunity to respond in writing to the written summary. Any response from the educator shall be submitted within thirty (30) days of receiving the written summary.
- j. If concerns develop during any observation and subsequent discussion, the evaluator will document and share those concerns with the educator.
- k. Any concerns documented in a mid-cycle or summative report must have been discussed with the educator prior to the mid-cycle or summative meeting.
- If concerns develop outside of an observation, those concerns will be documented and shared with the educator within five (5) school days on the non-observation feedback form. Non-observation feedback forms will be in addition to the minimum number of observations of practice.
- m. Discipline, including a documented letter of reprimand or suspension and any backup documentation, may be included as part of an educator's evaluation and subsequent ratings.
- n. A rating of Needs Improvement or Unsatisfactory in Standards I or II will result in an overall rating of Needs Improvement or Unsatisfactory. A rating of Needs Improvement or Unsatisfactory in Standards III or IV may also result in an overall rating of Needs Improvement or Unsatisfactory if the concerns outlined are determined by the evaluator to be serious enough to warrant an overall rating. For an educator with Professional Teacher Status, a minimum of five (5) observations must be conducted if an overall rating of Needs Improvement or Unsatisfactory is issued.

2. Evidence relevant to performance standards and goals

Throughout the evaluation cycle, evaluators and educators are encouraged to discuss evidence relevant to performance standards and goals. If an evaluator does not believe that they have enough evidence to determine a rating on each goal and standard, the educator may be asked to provide evidence prior to the mid-cycle review and/or summative evaluation meetings. Any such requests must be made at least one (1) week prior to the meeting. Evidence includes but is not limited to:

- a. Evidence of effective teaching practice.
- b. Evidence of student growth.
- c. Evidence of fulfillment of professional responsibilities and growth such as self-assessments, peer collaboration, professional learning, contributions to the school community, and professional culture.

- d. Evidence of active outreach to and engagement with families and the community.
- e. Evidence of impact of professional practice goal(s).
- f. Evidence of impact of student learning goal(s).
- g. Student feedback.

3. Rubrics

The rubrics are a guide used for the educator's self-assessment, the mid-cycle review, and the summative evaluation.

PART 3: EVALUATION CYCLE

1. <u>Goal-setting</u>

- a. Goals will include:
 - i. At least one (1) goal directly related to improving the educator's own professional practice.
 - ii. At least one (1) goal directly related to improving student learning.
- b. Goals may be developed by individuals or groups of educators, in collaboration with the evaluator. Goals must be approved by the evaluator by November 1.
- c. For an educator in their first year in the District, goals must be approved by the evaluator by December 1.

2. Observations and discussions

Observations, discussions, and feedback are critical components of a successful evaluation process. The emphasis should be on evaluators visiting classrooms and discussions about teaching and learning. Guidelines for observations are provided in Part 2, Section 1.

3. Evidence relevant to performance standards

Evidence is gathered and shared between the educator and evaluator throughout the evaluation cycle. Guidelines are provided in Part 2, Section 2.

4. <u>Mid-cycle review</u>

- a. Formative assessment will be ongoing throughout the evaluation cycle. There will be a mid-cycle review which will include a meeting between the educator and evaluator followed by the completion of the mid-cycle review report.
- b. The mid-cycle review meeting:
 - i. For educators on a one year self-directed growth plan, one year directed growth plan, or an improvement plan, the mid-cycle review meeting will take place by early February. The mid-cycle review report will be completed and shared with the educator by February 15.
 - ii. For educators on a two year self-directed growth plan, a mid-cycle review meeting is optional if the evaluator has no concerns. If the evaluator chooses to

schedule a mid-cycle review meeting, they will inform the educator by May 1. If the educator wishes to schedule a mid-cycle review meeting, they will make that request to their evaluator by May 15. The mid-cycle review meeting for educators on a two year self-directed growth plan will take place in late May or early June. Any mid-cycle review report will be completed and shared with the educator by June 15 of the first year of the evaluation cycle.

- c. The educator may bring, or be asked to provide, an update of progress on standards and goals to the mid-cycle review meeting. Any such requests must be made at least one (1) week prior to the meeting.
- d. Any concerns documented in the mid-cycle review by the evaluator will include suggested supports and/or resources the educator may use to help address those concerns.
- e. The educator will sign the mid-cycle review report within three (3) school days of receiving it. If the mid-cycle review report is not signed within three (3) school days, it will be considered signed.
- f. The educator will have an opportunity to respond in writing to the mid-cycle review report within two (2) weeks of receiving the report.

5. <u>Summative evaluation</u>

Rather than adopt a "one-size-fits-all" approach to supervision and evaluation, the Massachusetts evaluation framework encourages evaluators to look for trends and patterns in practice across multiple types of evidence and apply their professional judgment. There are no numbers or percentages that dictate ratings on standards, the assessment of educator goals, or the summative performance rating. The role of evidence and professional judgment in determination of ratings on performance standards and an overall summative performance rating is paramount in this process.

- a. The evaluation cycle concludes with a summative evaluation meeting followed by a written report. The summative evaluation meeting will take place after the last observation and before the summative report is written. At the meeting, the observations and evidence gathered throughout the year will be discussed to help the evaluator determine ratings and prepare to write the summative report.
- b. The summative report must be provided to the educator by June 15 of the year in which the cycle is completed. The summative report should recognize areas of strength as well as identify recommendations for professional growth. The summative report will include ratings on the four performance standards and the impact of goals on professional practice and student learning.
- c. The evaluator determines a rating on each performance standard based on:
 - i. Observations and discussions
 - ii. Multiple measures of student learning based on state and District guidelines
 - iii. Student feedback
 - iv. Evidence provided by the educator

- v. Additional relevant information on an educator's practice, that has been shared and discussed previously with the educator, related to one or more performance standards
- d. The summative performance rating will be based on:
 - The ratings on each performance standard as described above
 - ii. An examination of evidence of the impact of goals on professional practice and student learning
- e. To be rated Proficient overall, the educator shall, at a minimum, have been rated Proficient on Standards I and II: Curriculum, Planning, and Assessment and Teaching All Students
- f. The rating on Impact on Student Learning will be based on multiple measures of student learning over multiple years of growth data. These impact ratings will help to determine an educator's growth plan.
- g. The summative report must be provided to the educator by June 15. The educator shall sign the final summative report within three (3) school days and have the right to respond in writing to the report by July 1. If the educator hasn't signed the summative report within three (3) school days, the report will be considered signed.
- h. The evaluator will meet by June 15 with any educator rated Needs Improvement or Unsatisfactory to discuss a directed growth plan or improvement plan, respectively, and supports to be put in place.
- i. A copy of the signed final summative evaluation report, and any response by the educator, shall be filed in the educator's personnel file.

PART 4: EDUCATOR GROWTH PLANS

Every educator will be placed on an educator growth plan based on the prior year's summative performance rating and rating on impact on student learning. All educators with PTS will be placed on a one year self-directed growth plan until initial ratings are determined. Educators without PTS will remain on a one year self-directed growth plan until Professional Teacher Status is attained.

- 1. Educators with PTS rated Proficient or Exemplary: self-directed growth plans
 - a. Educators with PTS who have an overall rating of Proficient or Exemplary, and whose rating on impact on student learning is moderate or high, will be on a two year self-directed growth plan.
 - i. The mid-cycle review report for educators on a two year self-directed growth plan will be completed and shared with the educator by June 1 of the first year of the evaluation cycle.
 - ii. If concerns develop during the first year of a two year self-directed growth plan, the evaluator will increase the frequency of observations. A mid-cycle review report may be added in February. Ratings will only be given in the February or

- June mid-cycle review report to those for whom concerns have developed based on a minimum of five (5) observations during this first year.
- iii. If an educator on a two year self-directed growth plan is rated Needs Improvement in the June mid-cycle review report, the educator will be placed on a one year directed growth plan for the following school year.
- iv. If an educator on a two year self-directed growth plan is rated Unsatisfactory in the June mid-cycle review report, the educator will be placed on an improvement plan for the following school year.

b. Self-directed growth plan

- i. The mid-cycle review report for educators on a one year self-directed growth plan will be completed and shared with the Educator by February 1.
- ii. If concerns develop during the one year self-directed growth plan, the Evaluator will increase the frequency of observations.
- iii. If an educator on a one year self-directed growth plan is rated Needs Improvement in the summative report, the educator will be placed on a one year directed growth plan for the following school year.
- iv. If an educator on a one year self-directed growth plan is rated Unsatisfactory in the summative report, the educator will be placed on an improvement plan for the following school year.
- c. When an educator with PTS changes schools, departments, or grade levels, the evaluator may decide to place the educator on a one year self-directed growth plan.

2. Educators without PTS: one year self-directed growth plan

- a. All educators without PTS will be on a one year self-directed growth plan.
 - i. The mid-cycle review report for educators on a one year self-directed growth plan will be completed and shared with the Educator by February 1.
 - ii. If concerns develop for a non-PTS educator, the evaluator will increase the frequency of observations. Ratings will only be given in the mid-cycle review report to those for whom concerns have developed based on a minimum of four (4) observations. Any concerns will be discussed at the mid-cycle review meeting and documented in the report.
 - iii. An educator without PTS who has been rated Needs Improvement or Unsatisfactory will be given supports, including a mentor, to help them improve.

3. Educators with PTS rated Needs Improvement: one year directed growth plan

- a. Educators with PTS whose overall rating is Needs Improvement will be placed on a one year directed growth plan. The goals will be developed by the evaluator and outlined in the directed growth plan and shared with the educator by June 15. The goals must address areas identified as needing improvement as determined by the evaluator.
- b. The mid-cycle review meeting for an educator on a one year directed growth plan will be held by January 15 and will contain ratings on the four performance standards. The

- mid-cycle review report will be subsequently completed and shared with the educator by February 1.
- c. If the educator is rated Exemplary, Proficient, or Needs Improvement in the mid-cycle review report, the educator will remain on the directed growth plan for the duration of the school year.
- d. If the educator is rated Unsatisfactory in the mid-cycle review report, the educator will be placed on an improvement plan for the duration of the school year. For educators who are placed on an improvement plan in January, and receive an overall rating of Unsatisfactory in the summative report, the evaluator shall recommend to the Superintendent that the educator be dismissed.
- e. Per state regulations, an educator may not be rated Needs Improvement at the end of a one year directed growth plan. Therefore, if the educator is returning the next year, the educator will be rated either Exemplary or Proficient in the summative report and moved to the corresponding educator growth plan.

4. Educators with PTS rated Unsatisfactory: improvement plan

- a. If an educator is rated Unsatisfactory in the January mid-cycle review report, they shall be placed on an improvement plan through June 1 of that school year.
- b. Educators with PTS who are rated Unsatisfactory in the June summative report will be placed on an improvement plan for the following school year.
- c. The improvement plan shall:
 - i. Define the improvement plan goals directly related to the performance standard(s) and/or student learning outcomes that must be improved.
 - ii. Articulate the measurable outcomes that will be accepted as evidence of improvement.
 - iii. Describe the activities and work products the educator must complete as a means of improving performance.
 - iv. Detail the timeline for completion of each component of the plan, including monthly meetings with the evaluator.
 - v. Identify the individuals assigned to assist the educator which must include the evaluator(s) and mentor assigned by the evaluator.
 - vi. Outline supports to be provided to the educator by the District. The District will assume the costs of any instructional materials and professional learning opportunities for educators on an improvement plan.

d. The improvement plan process:

- i. Within ten (10) school days of notification to the educator that they are being placed on an improvement plan, the evaluator will develop the improvement plan and schedule a meeting with the educator to discuss the plan.
- ii. If the educator consents, the Association will be informed that an educator has been placed on an improvement plan. The educator may request that a

- representative of the Association attend any or all meetings relevant to the improvement plan.
- iii. There will be a scheduled monthly meeting between the evaluator and educator to review progress towards improvement plan goals.
- iv. A mutually-agreed upon, non-supervisory mentor will be assigned to the educator to support them throughout the improvement plan.
- v. Classroom teachers will be observed a minimum of one (1) thirty (30) minute period at least once a month by one or more evaluators unless otherwise dictated by an improvement plan.
- vi. Evaluators will observe educators in situations/settings that will allow for progress in areas of concern to be demonstrated.
- vii. Evaluators may request that the educator provide evidence that demonstrates progress towards the goals of the improvement plan.
- e. The educator and the evaluator will sign the improvement plan, and a copy of the signed plan will be provided to the educator. Signatures indicate that both parties understand the expectations of the plan.
- f. The summative evaluation report for an educator on an improvement plan must be provided to the educator by June 1. The report will include a summative performance rating that will determine next steps. According to state regulations, one of three decisions must be made at the conclusion of the improvement plan:
 - i. If the educator receives a rating of Proficient or Exemplary, the educator will be placed on a self-directed growth plan.
 - ii. If the educator receives a rating of Needs Improvement, the educator will be placed on a one year directed growth plan.
 - iii. If the evaluator determines that the educator's practice remains at the level of Unsatisfactory, the evaluator shall recommend to the Superintendent that the educator be dismissed.

5. <u>Professional Teacher Status</u>

In order to attain Professional Teacher Status, the educator should achieve ratings of Proficient or Exemplary on each performance standard and overall. A Principal considering making an employment decision that would lead to PTS for any educator who has not been rated Proficient or Exemplary on each performance standard and overall on the most recent evaluation shall confer with the Superintendent by May 1. The Principal's decision is subject to review and approval by the Superintendent.

6. <u>General provisions</u>

a. The Superintendent shall ensure that evaluators have training in supervision and evaluation, including the regulations, standards, and indicators promulgated by ESE (35.03), and the evaluation standards and procedures established in this Agreement.

- b. Should there be a serious disagreement between the educator and the evaluator regarding an overall summative performance rating of Unsatisfactory, the educator may meet with the evaluator's supervisor to discuss the disagreement. Should the educator request such a meeting, the evaluator's supervisor must meet with the educator. The evaluator may attend any such meeting at the discretion of the Superintendent. The educator may request the presence of an Association representative at the meeting.
- c. Information related to an individual educator's evaluation shall be considered part of their personnel file and will not be shared with individuals or organizations outside of the District, unless mandated by law. The Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education requires that ratings be confidentially submitted on an annual basis.
- d. The educator and evaluator will sign each document related to evaluation. Electronic signatures are acceptable. A signature indicates that the educator has received and read the document, and it does not necessarily indicate that the educator agrees with the contents.
- e. Forms and documents will be jointly created and agreed to by the District and Association.
- f. Educators may submit a response to any documents throughout the process within two (2) weeks. These responses will be kept with the evaluation record.

Acton-Boxborough Educator Evaluation Timeline

Evaluator will conduct 5 observations of educators on one year plans and 1-2 observations of educators on two year plans each year

Activity:	Completed By:
Evaluator will approve goals	November 1
Mid-cycle review meeting for educators on a one year plan (including non-PTS educators)	Early February
Mid-cycle review report for educators on a one year directed or self-directed growth plan completed and shared with educator	February 15
Educators will have received at least one formal observation by their evaluator(s)	May 1
Gather student feedback (throughout the year, by May 31) Write reflection on student feedback	May 31
Complete spring goals reflection	May 31
Mid-cycle or summative evaluation meeting, including spring goals reflection and student feedback	Late May/ Early June
Mid-cycle or summative report completed, shared, and signed	June 15
Evaluator meets with educators rated Needs Improvement or Unsatisfactory	June 20
Educator may respond in writing to summative evaluation report	July 1

LETTER OF AGREEMENT REGARDING SENIOR HIGH DUTIES



Side Letter of Agreement

The School Committee will commit at least \$25,000 in 1998-1999 for the purpose of implementing the concept of a duty free high school. These sums are specifically for the purpose of implementing the concept of a duty free day by reduction of supervisory duties by teachers as determined by the Administration. Incremental implementation will continue over the life of the successor agreement(s) starting in the year 1999-2000. The goal of the School Committee would be full implementation by June 30, 2002.

This side letter will not be subject to grievance and arbitration during the period of the successor agreement. The AEA also recognizes that the positions created by this agreement will be reduced before any certified stuff will be RIF'ed. In this event, teacher will resume duty coverage as needed.

Mary Jane Merrill	0 1/15/97 Date	Alice (Micki) Williams	Wans 47/98 Date
William Betourney	Date //16/99	Muslead (1) Kr. Michael Scanlon	anda Mfr 98

LETTER OF AGREEMENT REGARDING JUNIOR HIGH DUTIES

Acton Public Schools Acton-Boxborough Regional Schools Acton, Massachusetts

Side Letter of Agreement

The School Committee will commit at least \$10,000 in 1998-1999 for the purpose of implementing the concept of a duty-free junior high school. These sums are specifically for the purpose of implementing the concept of a duty-free day by reduction of supervisory duties by teachers as determined by the Administration. The Administration will first attempt to provide increased supervisory support and/or elective offerings during elective block. Incremental implementation will continue over the life of the successor agreement(s) starting in the year 1999-2000. The goal of the School Committee would be full implementation by June 30, 2002.

This side letter will not be subject to grievance and arbitration during the period of the successor agreement. The AEA also recognizes that the positions created by this agreement will be reduced before any certified staff will be RIFed. In this event, teachers will resume duty coverage as needed.

Mary Jane Mérrill Date
AEA President Date
AB School Committee Chairperson

Carla Brockmeter

AEA Representative

PAID CHAPERONING GUIDELINES

In order for a staff member to be paid for chaperoning a school event the following criteria must be met:

- The event must be school-sponsored and occur after school hours or on a weekend.
- The event must require the active chaperoning or monitoring of students. The event would not be able to run without the presence of chaperones.
- Chaperones must stay for the entire duration of the event to be paid. The approximate length of the event will be provided in advance by the event sponsor or activity advisor and the exact length will be determined at the end of the event.
- The chaperone list must be approved by the activity or event sponsor.
- The event sponsor or activity advisor is responsible for submitting time sheets for chaperones within one (1) week of the event.
- Chaperone stipends will be funded by the organization sponsoring the activity.
- Event sponsors/advisors cannot be paid for chaperoning an event if they are receiving a stipend for advising the sponsoring club or activity (i.e. the junior class advisor cannot be paid for chaperoning a junior class dance, but the other teachers volunteering to chaperone can be paid).
- Staff members *participating in* an event should not be considered to be chaperones (e.g. a staff member playing basketball for a student-faculty game or performing in a student-faculty talent show).
- Certain events are excluded from paying chaperones. These include:
 - Events where the sponsoring organization is paying the ticket cost for the chaperone's attendance (e.g. senior prom).
 - School-based celebratory events that encourage staff participation but do not require active chaperoning (e.g. school graduations, elementary school ice cream socials).
 - Athletic event duties since these are paid for by the Athletic Department (e.g. varsity basketball game crowd control).
 - Events where parents have the primary responsibility for monitoring their own children.

WITNESS PAGE

The ABEA and administration will review the contract and agree to housekeeping changes and language improvements that do not otherwise affect the benefits outlined in the contract.

Memorandum of Agreement

THIS AGREEMENT is subject to ratification by the Acton-Boxborough Regional School Committee and by the Acton Boxborough Education Association.

THIS AGREEMENT has been duly executed by the authorized representatives of the Acton-Boxborough Regional School Committee and by the Acton Boxborough Education Association.

ACTON-BOXBOROUGH REGIONAL

SCHOOL COMMITTEE
Negotiating Team

My a fook, ARREC Chair

Liz Fowlks, Negotiations Subcommittee

Amy rishnamunhy, Negotiations Subcommittee

ACTON BOXBOROUGH EDUCATION ASSOCIATION

Negotiating Team

Mike Balulescu, President

Mare Cows

Marc Lewis, Negotiations Chair